
 
 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

Regular Board Meeting 

3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 

February 27, 2025 
Thursday 
9:00AM 

1



Public Comment�

2



Agenda Changes�

3



Introduction of New Employees�

4



  
    

    
     

 

  
  

 
     

 
 

     
 

 
 

     
 

       
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

   
 

    
  

 
 

 
  

 
   
   

 
   

      
   

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Thursday, 9:00 a.m., January 30, 2025 

3945 Rio Road 

Carmel, California 93950 
Via Teleconference Webinar & In Person 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL - The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. 
*Signifies Virtual Attendance 

Present: President Ken White, Pro Tem Bob Siegfried, Directors: Cole, Urquhart, 

A quorum was present. 

Absent: 

Others: Barbara Buikema, General Manger Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD or District) 
Domine Barringer, Board Clerk, CAWD 
Patrick Treanor, District Engineer, CAWD 
Jeff Bandy, Principal Engineer, CAWD 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent, CAWD 
Daryl Lauer, Collections Superintendent, CAWD 
Ed Waggoner, Plant Superintendent, CAWD 
*Kevin Young, Plant Supervisor, CAWD* 
*Leo Laska, Director, Pebble Beach Community District (PBCSD)* 
Nick Becker, General Manager, PBCSD 
Alex J. Lorca- Fenton & Keller, Attorneys At Law, CAWD Legal Counsel 

In Person Public Attendees: 
Ramesh Manian | Stanford Ph. D, Student 
Hunter Leighton | Guest 
Steve Wilson| Monterey Bay Engineers, Inc. 
Dan and Dasha Keig 
Steve Thomas |TBC Communications 

*Virtual Public Attendees: 
*Scott Lonergan | Guest 

Note: Prior to the start of the meeting Steve Wilson spoke with President White and provided a document. 
This document was also given to the Board Clerk, and it was posted to the District website after the meeting 

was concluded. 

5



 
    

      

  
     

   
    

   
     

 
        

        
     

 
   

  
  

 
     

    
 

   
 

  

  
  

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL 

Cole (Present)- Siegfried (Present)- Urquhart (Present)- White(Present) 

APPEARANCES, ORDERS OF BUSINESS & ANNOUNCEMENTS 
1. Appearances/Public Comments: Anyone wishing to address the Board on a matter not 

appearing on the agenda may do so now. Public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per 
person. No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda. During 
consideration of any agenda item, public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per 
person and will be allowed prior to Board action on the item under discussion. 

Mr. Leighton addressed the board regarding the accessory dwelling unit policy. President 
White requested that Mr. Leighton provide the Board Clerk the document he brought to the 
meeting. Mr. Leighton stated that the document would be emailed to the District. 

Director Siegfried requested that the Principal Engineer’s projects that he is involved in be 
agendized for the next board meeting. The Board was in consensus to agendize this discussion 
at the February board meeting. 

2. Agenda Changes: Any requests to move an item forward on the agenda will be 
considered at this time. 

The Board was in consensus to move agenda item #31 before the consent 
calendar to accommodate attendees who wished to speak on this item. See 
Board comments under item #31. 

3. Introduction of Simrandeep Singh and Erik Van Duren: As Lab Analyst I/ 
Environmental Compliance Inspector I 

There was consensus from the Board to move this item to the February board 
meeting. 

6



 
 

       
     

 
    

    
        

 
 

     
    

      
      

 
 

      
 

   
   

     

  

4. Remembrance of Director Michael Rachel, for his 10 years of service 
to Carmel Area Wastewater District. 

Resolution No. 2025-01; A Resolution Recognizing And 
Acknowledging The Special Recognition of Director Michael Rachel for 
10 years of Service to the District-Report by Barbara Buikema, General 
Manager 

A Motion To Approve The Resolution Was Made By Director Urquhart And 
Seconded By Director Siegfried. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board 
Unanimously Passed Resolution Recognizing And Acknowledging The 
Special Recognition of Director Michael Rachel for 10 years of Service to the 
District. 

A moment of silence was observed by all participants in honor of Mr. Rachel 

Comments made by the Board of Directors: 
Mr. Rachel was a prince of a human being, humble, selfless, and a good soul. He 

provided a great background for the Board, and he will be missed. 

7



 

   
     

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

  
 

   
      

  
  

     
  

       
    
    

     
     

   
   
   

 
      
      
        
         
       
                 

       

  

CONSENT CALENDAR: APPROVAL OF MINUTES, FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MONTHLY REPORTS-ALL REPORTS RELATE 
TO CURRENT YEAR 

The Consent Agenda consists of routine items for which Board approval can be taken with 
a single motion and vote. A Board Member may request that any item be placed on the 
Regular Agenda for separate consideration. 

A Motion To Receive And Approve The Consent Agenda Was Made By Director 
Urquhart Seconded By Director Siegfried. After A Roll Call Vote, The Board 
Unanimously Received And Approved The Following Consent Calendar/Agenda Items 

5. December 19, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Minutes, January 15, 2025 Bridge To 
Everywhere Minutes 

6. Receive and Accept Bank Statement Review by Clifton Larson Allen (CLA)-December, 
November, October, and September 2024 
(Note: The District was informed by CLA that the  December, November, October and 
September letters are not available for the January board meeting) 

7. Receive and Accept Schedule of Cash Receipts & Disbursements December 2024 
8. Approve Register of Disbursements – Carmel Area Wastewater District December 2024 
9. Approve Register of Disbursements – CAWD/PBCSD Reclamation Project December 2024 
10. Receive and Accept Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules - December 2024 
11. Receive and Accept Collection System Superintendent’s Report For December, November 

& October 2024 
12. Receive and Accept Safety and Regulatory Compliance Report December 2024 
13. Receive and Accept Treatment Facility Operations Report December, November & October 

2024 
14. Receive and Accept Laboratory/Environmental Compliance Report December 2024 
15. Receive and Accept Capital Projects Report/Implementation Plan 
16. Receive and Accept Project Summaries – Capital & Non-Capital 
17. Receive and Accept Plant Operations Report- December 2024 
18. Receive and Accept Maintenance Projects Report – December 2024 
19. Receive and Accept Source Control-Environmental Compliance Report 

December 2024 

8



     

                
       

   
 

 
 

    
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
    

    
  

  
 

  
   

    
 

 
   

  
   

 
 

   
  

  

ACTION ITEMS BEFORE THE BOARD 

Action Items consist of business which requires a vote by the Board. These items are acted 
upon in the following sequence: (1) Staff Report (2) Board Questions to Staff (3) Public 
Comments, and (4) Board Discussion and Action. 

RESOLUTIONS 

20. Resolution No. 2025-02: A Resolution Appointing a Board Clerk and Pro Tem Clerk of the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District, for a Term of One Year, Commencing on December 
19,2024 January 30, 2025 – Report by Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

A Motion To Approve The Resolution Was Made By Director Urquhart And Seconded By 
President White. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Passed Resolution 
Resolution Appointing a Board Clerk and Pro Tem Clerk of the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District, for a Term of One Year, Commencing on December 19, 2024. 

21. Resolution No. 2025-03; A Resolution Authorizing The General Manager To Enter 
Into A Contract Amount Of $47,846 With R.F. Macdonald Co. To Recondition 
Reclamation Pump 932-Report Written by Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent-
Presented by Ed Waggoner, Plant Superintendent 

A Motion To Approve The Resolution Was Made By Director Urquhart And Seconded By 
Director Siegfried. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Passed 
Resolution To Enter Into A Contract Amount Of $47,846 With R.F. Macdonald Co. To 
Recondition Reclamation Pump 932. 

22. Resolution No. 2025-04; A Resolution Accepting The 2024 Surplus Property Disposition-
Foley Report Written by Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent-Presented by Ed 
Waggoner, Plant Superintendent Daryl Lauer, Collections  Superintendent 

A Motion To Approve The Resolution Was Made By Director Urquhart And Seconded By 
Director Siegfried. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Passed 
Resolution Accepting The 2024 Surplus Property Disposition. 

9



 
     

  
  

  
 

 
   

   
 

  
  

  

 
   

   
 

 
 

   
 

  

 

         
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

    
 

  
 

    
 

  

23. Resolution No. 2025-05- A Resolution Authorizing The General Manager To Execute 
An Amendment To An Existing Professional Services Agreement With MNS Engineers, Inc. 
In An Amount Not To Exceed $231,715 For Construction Phase Engineering And Public 
Outreach Services For The Santa Rita And Guadalupe Sewer Replacement Project 
(Project #23-01)-Report by Patrick Treanor, District Engineer 

A Motion To Approve The Resolution Was Made By President White And Seconded By 
Director Cole. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Passed Resolution 
Authorizing The General Manager To Execute An Amendment To An Existing 
Professional Services Agreement With MNS Engineers, Inc. In An Amount Not To Exceed 
$231,715 For Construction Phase Engineering And Public Outreach Services For The 
Santa Rita And Guadalupe Sewer Replacement Project (Project #23-01). 

24. Resolution No. 2025-06- A Resolution Authorizing The General Manager To Sign A 
Consultant Contract For Executive Coaching - Report by General Manager, Barbara 
Buikema 

A Motion To Approve The Resolution Was Made By Director Siegfried And Seconded By 
Director Cole. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Passed Resolution 
Authorizing The General Manager To Sign A Consultant Contract For Executive 
Coaching For $42K With Limelight Strategies. 

COMMUNICATIONS 

25. General Manager Report- Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema * 

a. Retreat Progress 

The management team will be meeting again in early February to discuss the retreat. 

b. County Response on District Funds 

Barbara Buikema stated, on the question regarding the County’s response to District 
request, a letter was sent out and they did not respond. The response from the 
District’s consultant stated there is a rule that says the District cannot, as a Special 
District,  petition the Attorney General. Another call is scheduled with Mandel 
Consulting. 

c. CWEA Awards Event – 71st Annual Awards Banquet February 21, 2025 6-9 pm 

10



 
 

                
  

 
 

  

 
       

 
 

 
    

     

     
 

    
    

              
    

   
 

 
   

  
  

OTHER ITEMS BEFORE THE BOARD 

26. 2025 Board Committee Assignments, PBCSD Meetings, SDA Meetings, and 
conference schedule – Report by Board Clerk, Domine Barringer 

Requesting Board Approval 

The Board Was In Consensus To Continue The Current Committee Assignments. 

27. Budget Committee Discussion - Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 

Requesting Board Decision 

Items below numbered 1-6 as listed in the Staff report and voted on during the January 30, 
2025, board meeting: Guidance to the budget committee from the full Board. 

• Should the Sea Level Rise Reserve continue to be augmented, and, if so, why and at what rate? 

o A Motion To Continue Funding Sea Level Rise was made by President White and 
seconded by Director Siegfried. Roll Call Vote Was Taken On Sea Level Rise And The 
Continuance Of The Yearly Funding. After The Roll Call Vote Ayes from Directors Cole, 
Siegfried, and President White, With A No Vote From Director Urquhart. Following A 
Roll Call Vote, The Board Agreed To Continue The Sea Level Rise Funding. 

Barbara Buikema asked if it was to be funded at the current rate of $1M a year. Director 
Siegfried stated that the Budget Committee can decide the amount. The was no 
consensus from the Board regarding this comment. 

11



 
    

 
 
 

  
 

 
       

    
     

        
     

  
 

   
 

 
   

             
  

   
 

   
 

  
       

  
 

  
 

 
    

    
   

 
 

 
   

 
 

      
          

  
    

     
  

 
  

• It is an open question whether CalPERS Section 115 investments consistently are able to 
outperform the market. Such investments represent an additional commission on 
ratepayers’ funds compared to leaving funds with the ratepayers and requesting 
contributions when CalPERS issues requests for supplementary contributions. There are 
advantages and disadvantages to maintaining Section 115 investments. Should Carmel Area 
Wastewater District continue investing in Section 115 funds? 

o A Motion To Cease Funding CalPERS 115 Was Made By Director Siegfried And Seconded 
by Director Urquhart To Leaving Funds With The Ratepayers And Requesting 
Contributions When CalPERS Issues Requests For Supplementary Contributions. After 
The Roll Call Vote There Were No Votes from Directors Cole and President White, With 
Yes Votes From Director Urquhart and Siegfried. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Motion 
Failed. 

• Over how many years should funds be raised for planned, significant capital investments? 

A Motion To Continue The 15 Year Time Frame To Raise Significant Capital Investment 
Was Made By President White And Seconded by Director Cole. After The Roll Call Vote 
There Where Ayes from Directors Cole, Siegfried, and President White, And A No Vote 
From Director Urquhart. The Board Agreed To Continue The Status Quo Of Funding 
Capital Investments for 15 years. 

• Should money be budgeted to compensate for depreciation? 

o A Motion To Continue The Status Quo Regarding Depreciation Was Made By Director 
Siegfried and seconded by President White. After The Roll Call Vote All Ayes, The Board 
Unanimously Agreed To Continue The Status Quo Regarding Depreciation. 

• Does the Board wish to maintain its Pay-as-You-Go policy for capital projects and for Sea 
Level Rise? 

o A Motion To Continue The Pay-as-you-Go Was Made By President White And Seconded 
by Director Siegfried. After The Roll Call Vote With Ayes From Directors Cole, Siegfried, 
and President White And A No Vote From Director Urquhart. The Board wish to 
maintain its Pay-as-You-Go policy for capital projects and for Sea Level Rise? 

• Should we initiate a practice of linking performance measures to specific program goals? 
Should these be reported in the budget document? 

o A Motion To Initiate And Articulate A Practice Of Linking Performance Measures To 
Specific Program Goals And Have These Be Reported In The Budget Document Was 
Made By Director Cole And Seconded By Urquhart. After The Roll Call Vote All Ayes, The 
Board Unanimously Agreed To Initiate Practice Of Linking Performance Measures To 
Specific Program Goals And Have These Be Reported In The Budget Document And The 
Budget Committee Will Decide The Measures. 

12



 
                

        
 

    
   
  
  
  
  
  

 
    

   
 

 
    

  
    

 
 

       
   
 

 
 

      
 

   
   

  

28. Newsletter Topics- Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 

The Board Was In Consensus To Choose The Following Newsletter Topics: 

• Smartcovers – what are they, where are they, why do we use them. 
• Microorganism of the Month 
• Budget graphs 
• Energy Improvement 
• Fats, Oil and Grease (FOG) Plan 
• If You See Something – Say Something 
• Digital Newsletter Comment 

29. 2024 Annual Collection Report -by Daryl Lauer, Collections Superintendent 

Requesting Board Approval 

A Motion To Approve The 2024 Annual Collection Report Was Made By Urquhart And 
Seconded By President White. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously 
Accepted the 2024 Annual Collection Report. 

30. Requesting A Motion To Accept The Carmel Area Wastewater District’s 
June 30,2024 Financial Audit- Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 

Requesting Board Acceptance 

A Motion To Accept The Carmel Area Wastewater District’s June 30, 2024 Financial Audit 
Was Made By Urquhart And Seconded By President White. Following A Roll Call Vote, The 
Board Unanimously Accepted The Carmel Area Wastewater District’s June 30, 2024 
Financial Audit. 

13



      
   

 
 

 
    

    
    

  
 

 
   

   
  

 
   

    
   

 
     

   
 

 
 

 
     

 
   

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
        

 
  

 
        

         
    

       
 
 
 
 

31. Special Sewer Connection Agreement Discussion – Keig Property -Highlands Gas 
Station (70 Hwy 1)- Report by Patrick Treanor, District Engineer 

Requesting Board Discussion 

A Motion To Table Item #31 Regarding The Special Sewer Connection Agreement 
Discussion – Keig Property- Highlands Gas Station (70 Hwy 1) and bring it back to the 
next board meeting - Was Made By Director Urquhart And Seconded By Director Cole. 
Following A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Agreed To Table Item #31. 

President White requested if the applicant is in support of the motion? Steve Wilson requested 
that a special meeting be held to discuss this issue. President White requested that the 
applicant provide a date that is amenable. Director Cole agreed with the request for a single 
issue meeting (special meeting). President White requested consensus, and the Board was in 
consensus. 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

32. January 24,2025 Pebble Beach Community Service District Meeting- Report by General 
Manager, Barbara Buikema 

33. Staff report – Director Questions Submission To Be Received By Wednesday Morning- Report 
by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 

The Board Was In Consensus To Deliver Questions To Staff The Tuesday Before The 
Board Meeting. 

34. Statement of Economic of Interest (FORM 700)- Report by Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

The Board Clerk reported that all FORM 700 will have to be submitted electronically going 
forward. 

35. Board Vacancy Information- Notification of Special Board Meeting -February 26, 2025-
Report by Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

The Board Was In Consensus To Post The Board Vacancy At The Rio Road Post Office. 

36. Term Limit Policy-Report by Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

The Board requested that we move this to the next board meeting. 

37. Special District Meeting- Report by General Manager, Barbara Buikema 

38. Wastewater Treatment Plant Electricity Use Update-Report by Patrick Treanor, District 
Engineer 

14



 
 

    
         

        
      

 
          
    

   
 

     
      
    

         
  

 
  

 
        

  
  

  
   

      
  

  
          

         
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

____________________________ 

____________________________________________ 

39. Announcements on Subjects of Interest to the Board Made by Members 
of the Board or Staff 
Oral reports or announcements from Board President, Directors or staff concerning their 
activities and/or meetingsor conferences attended. 

PBCSD Board Public Meeting Notice & Agenda – The next PBCSD meeting is scheduled for: 
Friday, February 28, 2025, at 9:30 a.m. –TBD is scheduled to attend. 
Friday, March 28, 2025, at 9:30 a.m. –TBD is scheduled to attend. 

Special Districts Association (SDA) of Monterey County – The next SDA meeting is scheduled for: 
Tuesday, April 15, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. –TBD is scheduled to attend. 
Tuesday, July (TBD), 2025, at 6:00 p.m. –TBD  is scheduled to attend. 

Reclamation Management Committee (RMC) Meeting –The next RMC meeting is scheduled for: 
Tuesday, February 11, 2025, at 9:30 a.m. President White and Director Siegfried. 

• Director Cole’s Report on CASA Conference Information 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting adjourned at meeting at 
11:26 a.m. 

40. ADJOURNMENT 
The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, February 27, 
2025, or at an alternate acceptable date. NOTE: The meeting will have a 
teleconference option hosted through Zoom. You can access the Zoom link by visiting 
our website, www.cawd.org.  If you need assistance, please call the District office at 831-
624-1248 or send an email to downstream@cawd.org. After staff reports have been 
distributed, if additional documents are produced by the District and provided to the 
Board regarding any item on the agenda, they will be made available on the District 
website. 

As Reported To: 

Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 
APPROVED: 

Ken White, President of the Board 

15

https://www.cawd.org/
mailto:downstream@cawd.org


 

               
    

 
                                          

                       
 

   
 

 
   

   
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 
 

     
 

  
       

 
   

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

_______________________________________________ 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
Budget STANDING COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
1:00 p.m. Friday, February 14, 2025 

Via teleconference and in-person 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL: 
The meeting was called to order at 1:00 p.m. 

Present: Director Siegfried 
Director Cole 

*Signifies Virtual Attendance 
Other Attendees: 

Barbara Buikema, General Manager, Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) 
James Grover, Accounting Manager 
Mariana Pimentel, Chief Financial Officer (PBCSD)* 

Absent: 

Appearances/Public Comments: None 

Agenda Changes: None 

AGENDA ITEMS: 

 Review of 2025-26 O&M Treatment Budget 

The Committee adjourned the meeting at 3:01 p.m. 

ADJOURNMENT: The next regular Board meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., 
Thursday, February 27, 2025, in person or with a teleconference webinar link. 
The teleconference webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access 
by visiting our website homepage, www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 
831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

AS REPORTED TO: 

Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED:_______________________________ 
Bob Siegfried, Pro Tem of the Board 

16

https://www.cawd.org/
mailto:downstream@cawd.org


 

               
   

    
  

                       
 

  
    

 
     

  
 

 
  

 
 

   
    

 
    

  
   

   

   
 

 

  
 

  
 

  
    

    
 

    
 

 
  

   
 

 
  

   
 

  
 
 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
Pension & Investment Long Term Investments 

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
9:30 a.m. Wednesday, February 19, 2025 

Via teleconference and in-person 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL: 
The meeting was called to order at 9:34 a.m. 

Present: Director Siegfried and Director Urquhart 

*Signifies Virtual Attendance 

Other Attendees: 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chuck Elise, Osborne Partners Capital* 
Alex Lorca, District Legal Counsel* 

Absent: 

1. Appearances/Public Comments: Anyone wishing to address the Committee on a 
matter not appearing on the agenda may do so now. Public comment shall be 
limited to 3 minutes per person per topic. No action shall be taken on any item not 
appearing on the agenda. 

2. Agenda Changes: Any requests to move an item on the agenda will be considered at 
this time. 

None 

3. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

 Discuss Review Of Investment Policy: 

a. Robert Siegfried will speak to Ken White about the concern of the Pension 
And Investment Committee having a tie and the need to bring this type of 
issue to the full board. 

b. Chuck Else requested that the investment policy guidelines be signed 

Director Urquhart made a motion and it was seconded by Director Siegfried 
for the Osborne Capital to proceed and allow the District investment advisor 
to proceed as appropriate to the market. 

Director Urquhart stated that the District is still looking obtaining a Pension 
lawyer. Mr. Else stated that he is certain that this is subject to ERISA. Alex 
Lorca stated that he has a contact for a pension attorney. 

Mr. Else looks forward to reporting out at any upcoming board or pension 
meeting. 

17



 
   

 
 

     
          

     
    

 

 

 
   

 
 

 
  

_______________________________________________ 

_______________________________ 

The Committee adjourned the meeting at 9:50 a.m. 

4. ADJOURNMENT: The next regular Board meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, 
February 27, 2025, in person or with a teleconference webinar link. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website 
homepage, www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at 
downstream@cawd.org. 

AS REPORTED TO: 

Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

Bob Siegfried, Director 

18

https://www.cawd.org/
mailto:downstream@cawd.org


    
 

  
 

  
     

 
 

  
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

   
    
    
   

    
 

 
   
  

 
 

  
   

 
  

  
 

 
  

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
BRIDGE TO EVERYWHERE(BTE) 

STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES 

February 19, 2025, Wednesday 2:00 p.m. 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL 
The meeting was called to order at 2:01 p.m. 

*Signifies virtual attendance 

Present: President Ken White, 

Other Attendees: 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Patrick Treanor, District Engineer 
Dale Byrne, Mayor of Carmel-by-the-Sea 
Greg D’Ambrosio, Friends of Mission Trail Nature Preserve 
Doug Schmitz, Friends of Mission Trail Nature Preserve 
Sam Farr, Retired Representative U.S. Congress 
Paul Bartow, Citizen Representative 
Gary Tate, Citizen Representative 
Scott Lonergan, Citizen Representative 
Paul Short, Citizen Representative 

Other In Person Attendees: 
Bob Siegfried, Board Member - Carmel Valley Association Representative 

Absent: 
Laura Bowling, Friends of Mission Trail Nature Preserve 
Katherine Wallace, Associate Planner, City of Carmel-by-the-Sea 
Megan Dobyns, River School Parent Teacher Organization 

19



 

 

      

 
 

     
   

   
    

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
    

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
   

  
 

  
 

 
   

 
 

    
 

    
  

  
  

Roll Call: 

White (Present) and New Director ______TBD -February 26,2025 (Special Meeting) 

1. Appearances/Public Comments: Anyone wishing to address the 
Committee on a matter not appearing on the agenda may do so now. 
Public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per person per topic. No 
action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda. 

2. Agenda Changes: Any requests to move an item on the agenda will 
be considered at this time. 

None 

3. Appointment Of A New Member To the Bridge To Everywhere 
Committee Will Be Finalized in the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District February 26, 2025 Board Meeting. The New Member Is 
___________. 

4. Organization of the Committee 

The Committee was in consensus to carry this item forward and to defer at this meeting. 

General Discussion Items: 

5. Schedule of organizations to meet with: 

 Carmel Valley Association Designated Appointee: (Barbara Buikema, 
Patrick Treanor, Greg D’Ambrosio, Laura Bowling) 

 Discussion about Mission and future deliverables 

President White stated that the District has received a letter of support 
from the Carmel Valley Association’s board and Carmel Residents 
Association. 

 Carmel Rotary- Designated Appointee: (Greg D’Ambrosio) 

President White stated that a presentation was given to the Carmel Rotary 
and the Committee will be asking for a letter of support from them. 
President White would also like for a letter of support after each 
presentation to a group. 

20



 
  

 
  

 
 

   
    

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
    

   
   

 
 

  
 

     
 

  
 

  
  

 

 
 

   
 

     
  

    
    

 
  

6. Site Clean Up Progress Report:

 Discussion regarding site cleanup progress

Greg D’Ambrosio hoping to establish some sort of a schedule on cleanup beyond what's 
been done so far. A solution to where to place the materials that the city still wants to 
retain. But the meeting has not yet occurred with the City. 

President White asked Mayor Byrne if he would like to join the Committee. Mayor Byrne 
stated that he would like to learn more first. Greg D’Ambrosio requested if a date and time 
certain could be set to discuss questions. 

Sam Farr stated that we must have clean title and site cleanup before any grant award 
from the Coastal Conservancy. 

Sam Farr stated the land is in a riparian zone and it is very limited, and is designated as 
a park in all legal documents. 

Mayor Byrne stated that the goal is to move projects like this forward, so we can make 
progress on other projects. Mayor Byrne will try and setup a meeting after the next council 
meeting, which is the 3rd and 4th, so maybe the following week. 

7. BTE Outreach: Designate(s) listed below

 General  Informational Flyer - Review by all committee members

 Neighborhood –

Paul Bartow stated that this communication is being worked on. There is some
concern about parking if that area becomes a park or pickle ball.

A meeting with Lance Monosoff will occur Friday at 1 p.m. and Paul Bartow will
attend that meeting.

The outreach is occurring to answer questions that the neighborhood may be
having about this area becoming a park.

Mayor Byrne stated concerns about when change occurs and the need as a city, you
help us figure out a way to draw a line through these things. So, there's continuity.
So, we do not lose intellectual capital that's been developed over a lot of work. And
that happened with this project based on my research, with people

21



 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

  
  

  
   

 
 

   
 

 
 

  
  

    
 

   
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

   
 

 
  

  

 Carmel Mission - Laura Bowling 

No comments because Ms. Bowling was not at the meeting. 

 Coastal Conservancy –Patrick Treanor 

Sam Farr spoke to Trish Chapman at the Coastal Conservancy.  Mr. Farr requested 
that we prepare information demonstrating how much investment has already been 
spent on the surrounding properties at the Regional Park District, State Parks, 
Mission Trail, and to the City for trail development. That the Bridge To Everywhere is 
the project that opens the door all of those properties. 

Mr. Treanor stated, with respect to Regional Parks, that the bridge would connect the 
Parks District to the ocean, which does not exist now. They currently are receiving 
$22M through the Coastal Conversancy for their floodplain restoration project. All 
funds added up is approximately $50M 

Gary Tate  stated that the important element is in the commitment/funding in the 
legal authority of the applicant, which is CAWD. They are going to interested in what 
right do we have in this critical parcel/real park and resulting lease. 

 County of Monterey- Patrick Treanor, Sam Farr, Doug Schmitz 

See comments above 

 Monterey Peninsula Regional Parks District -Gary Tate 

See comments above 

 State Parks – Patrick Treanor and Doug Schmitz 

See comments above 

 Letters of Support-

President White stated that two letter of support have been received. 

 Offices of Federal and State Officials – Sam Farr and Doug Schmitz 

Sam Farr stated that he wants to make a plea to our elected officials, but first we 
must have a solid ask. 

22



 
  

 
  

   
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
   
   
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
   

 
    

  
 

  
 

 
 

  

 River School -Paul Bartow 

Paul Bartow stated the parents are in favor of the project. The brochure has been 
shared with the Parent Teacher Association PTA). 

Greg D’Ambrosio requested that Mr. Bartow obtain a letter of support from the 
school. 

 Other 

8. Projected Preliminary and Future Expenditures : 

 Discuss upcoming potential expenditures 

• Log debris & Wood Spoils 
• Marketing 
• Pine Cone Publications 
• Radio Announcements 
• Public Outreach  And General Informational Flyer 
• Topes Tree Service 
• Logo Copyright 
• Title/Easements 
• Dusky-footed Woodrat Nesting Site 

9. Communication Received 

Greg D’Ambrosio stated that Gary mentioned that he has the Kiwanis tagged for one of 
3 dates. Are there any other groups that we want to reach out to? 

President White suggested that we reach out and Carmel Chamber of Commerce. 

Gary Tate suggested that the Point Lobos group be contacted. Sam Farr will reach out 
to the Point Lobos group. 

23



 
    

    
  

  
 

  
    

  
 

   
 

   
 

 
       

  
 
 

    
 

  

 
 

  
   

  
   

    
 

   
  

 

 
  

 
    

 
  

Doug Schmitz stated that he and Ken White met with the Mayor Byrne several weeks 
ago. Mayor Bryne provided some ideas for alternatives within the lease document and Greg 
and I have been working on that. The lease document is possibly slated to appear on the 
City Councils April agenda. 

Doug Schmitz stated that one of the things that came up when we met was the Mission 
parking lot, and that may solve parking for both Mission Trail and Rio Park. Mr. Schmitz 
will discuss this issue with the Carmel Mission. 

Mayor Bryne stated that the City attorney is working on a draft lease agreement. 

10.Earth & Arbor Day, April 26, 2025: from 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. at Devendorf Park 
6th Mission Street Carmel-by-the-Sea, CA 93923 (attached Flyer) 

Greg D’Ambrosio suggested a petition at the booth explaining the project and request 
their signature in support of the project. 

11.CLOSED SESSION: As permitted by Government Code Section 54956 et seq., 
the Board of Directors may adjourn to a Closed Session to consider specific 
matters dealing with litigation, certain personnel matters, real property 
negotiations, or to confer with the District’s Meyers-Milias-Brown 
representative. 

Conference with Real Property Negotiators: 
Government Code section 54956.8 
Rio Park, Carmel, CA 93923 
Agency Negotiators: (Barbara Buikema, Patrick Treanor, Greg 
D’Ambrosio, Laura Bowling, Doug Schmitz, Sam Farr) 
The negotiators will discuss terms. Price and Terms of Payment 
Negotiating Parties: Owner of Rio Park, City of Carmel-by-the-Sea 
(Chip Rerig, City Administrator) 

There was no closed session 

The Committee adjourned the meeting at 3:37 p.m. 

24



 
 

    
    

 
   

 
  

 
 

 

12. ADJOURNMENT: The next Bridge To Everywhere meeting is typically scheduled for the 
third Wednesday of the month. The next Bridge To Everywhere meeting will occur on March 
19, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. The next regular Board meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, 
February 27, 2025, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference webinar 
is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at 
downstream@cawd.org. 

25

https://www.cawd.org/
mailto:downstream@cawd.org


   

 

 

Clifton Larsen Allen, LLP�

January 2025�

Independent Accountants' 

Report�Are Not Available�

Will Post In The March 2025 Board Meeting�

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



 

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements - JANUARY 2025 

BALANCE BEGINNING OF MONTH 

Receipts:
   User Fees 
   Property Taxes 
   PBCSD Treatment Fees 
   Reclamation O & M reimbursement 
   Reclamation capital billing
   Permits 
   PBCSD capital billing
   Other misc. revenue 
   Interest income 
   CCLEAN receipts 
   Carmel Valley Manor repayment fees 
   Void checks-replace Highlands checks 
   GovDeals-sale of old truck 
   Brine disposal fees 
   CRFREE Project grant funds 
   Connection fees 
   SJSU grant receipts-Applied Marine Sciences 
        Total Receipts 

Fund Transfers:
   Transfers to Chase Bank O&M 
   Transfers to Chase Bank PR 
   Transfer to Defend or Managed Retreat Fund
   Intra-fund transfers for capital expenditures
   Rebalance Capital and O&M Reserves
        Total Transfers 

Disbursements:
   Operations and capital 
   Payroll & payroll taxes 
   Employee Dental reimbursements 
   CALPERS EFT 
   CAWD SAM pension EFT 
   Union dues EFT 
   Home Depot EFT 
   US Bank EFT 
   Deferred comp contributions EFT 
   PEHP contributions EFT 
   Bank/ADP fees 
   CALPERS SSA 218 Annual Fee 
   Annual County admin billing fee 
   GASB 68 report fee 
   Unfunded CALPERS liabilities 
         Total Disbursements 

BALANCE END OF MONTH 

Capital 
Fund 

$7,856,023 

71,212

71,212 

(371,323) 

(371,323) 0 

0 0 

7,555,912 27,076,536 

Capital 
Improvement 

Reserve 

$27,076,536 

General O & M 
Fund 

$14,246,625 

415,888

312,849 

0 728,737 0 

(828,677) 

(828,677) 0 

0 0 

14,146,685 307,752 

Compensated 
Accruals 
Reserve 

$307,752 

Defend or 
Managed  Retreat 

Reserve 

$7,123,438 

COUNTY 
Total Fund 

Balance 

$56,610,373 

Chase 
Bank O & M 

Balance 

$409,300 

230,000
119,407

2,340

5,771

138,203
139,370

8,635
5,400

13,116
12,283
44,153

3,454
0 799,949 722,132 

1,200,000
(280,000) 

0 (1,200,000) 920,000 

767,252

3,115
46,220

0
761

1,260
8,916

13,300
3,739

5 
110

0
0
0

0 0 844,678 

7,123,438 56,210,322 1,206,754 

Chase 
Bank PR 
Balance 

$9,380 

L.A.I.F. 
Balance 

$1,294,947 

15,061

0 15,061 

280,000

280,000 0 

279,445

980

280,425 0 

8,956 1,310,008 

43



 

0 

10,000,000 

20,000,000 

30,000,000 

40,000,000 

50,000,000 

60,000,000 

Jul-24 Aug-24 Sep-24 Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 

Total Fund Balances 24-25 Capital Reserves 

O&M 

Comp Absences 

Retreat Reserve 

Total 

Capital Reserve + O&M + O&M Reserve + Compensated Absences Reserve = Total Fund held in County 

44



0 

5,000,000 

10,000,000 

15,000,000 

20,000,000 

25,000,000 

30,000,000 

7,555,912 

27,076,536 

14,146,685 

307,752 

7,123,438 

15,100,220 15,587,606 

12,977,938 

283,250 

6,123,438 

2024-25 
2023-24 

Capital Capital Reserve O&M Compensated Absences Managed Retreat Reserve 

45



46



47



48



49



50



51



Carmel Area Wastewater District 

Balance Sheet 

January 2025 

Current Liabilities 

Current Liabilities 

LIABILITIES 

1,016,255.91 

TOT AL Current Liabilities 

Long-Tenn Liabilities 

Long Term Liabilities 

TOTAL Long-Tenn Liabilities 

TOT AL LIABILITIES 

1,409,638.41 

1,016,255.91 

1,409,638.41 

2,425,894.32 

Net Assets 

Year-to-Date Earnings 

NET POSITION 

113,604,348.14 

4,334,305.83 

TOT AL NET POSITION 117,938,653.97 

TOT AL LIABILITIES & NET POSITION 120,364,548.29 

2/18/2025 5:24:57 PM Balance Sheet - Custom Page2 
52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



  
  

  

              

  

 

  

 

 

       
     

 
  

   
 

  

  
 

  

          
        
        

STAFF REPORT 
TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent 

DATE: February 27, 2025 

SUBJECT: Monthly Report – January 2025 

RECOMMENDATION 

Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 

Permits Issued 

Sewer Lateral Permits issued in January  …........................................................ 

Total Fees     ....................................................................................................... $1,390.00 

Maintenance 
Attached is a map of the areas cleaned in the past three months. There were 36,779 feet of 
sewer lines cleaned in January. Staff successfully flushed 1,000 feet of 4 inch force main on 
the Highlands pressure force main. Engineering, Maintenance and Collections worked 
together to send 10,000 gallons through the force main at a set pressure to get the 
maximum scouring of the force main. Settled grit and sludge were observed during the 
cleaning. Staff are gathering data for post-flushing analysis. 

Recent Line Cleaning Summary 

Cleaning period Footage 
Cleaned 

Percentage Cleaned Size of Pipe Cleaned 

January- 2025 36,779 ft. 8.11% 6 - 12 inches 
December -2024 43,407 ft. 9.57% 6 - 27 inches 
November -2024 32,553 ft. 7.40% 6 – 27 inches 

71

7 

https://1,390.00


  

 

 
 

  
 

 

   

 
     

Annual Line Cleaning Graph 

Line Cleaning Table 

Total Target Amount 
(Linear Feet) 

Cumulative Complete 
(Linear Feet) 

Remaining (Linear Feet) 

615,000 264,046 350,954 

Staff Development 
• Staff attended weekly tailgate safety tailgate training sessions. 

72



 
 

    
      

 
 

 
  

    
 

 
 
  

      
  

  
  

   
  
  

   

   
  

 
 

Service calls responded to by crew: 

Date Time Callout Resolution 
1/8/2025 11:00 AM Asphalt patch verification Asphalt patch from private lateral 

repair in street one year verification. 
No problems with asphalt were 
observed. 
See callout map. 

1/9/2025 11:00 AM Asphalt patch verification Asphalt patch from private lateral 
repair in street one year verification. 
No problems with asphalt were 
observed. 
See callout map. 

1/12/2025 11:40 AM Odor of fuel in wastewater Called by Treatment Plant staff for an 
odor of fuel that they noticed in the 
treatment plant flows. Staff arrived and 
checked the manholes in Rio Park with 
a gas detector and did not register any 
reading on the gas monitor.  Staff 
checked several other manholes in the 
system to see if we could pinpoint the 
location of the discharge. Nothing was 
found and it is believed that a discharge 
of fuel must have passed through the 
collection system. 
See callout map. 

73



 
    

   
 

 
   

    
   

 
   

 
 

    
 

     
  

 
  

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

Date Time Callout Resolution 
1/16/2025 7:29 PM High level alarm at pump 

station. 
Called by automated dialer for a high-
level float alarm at Monte Verde pump 
station. Staff monitored the station, and 
no other alarms came in. An inspection 
the following day found the high-level 
float was disconnected from the float tree 
and was the cause of the high level alarm. 
Repairs have been scheduled to correct 
the float. 
See callout map. 

1/24/2025 11:00 AM Asphalt patch verification Asphalt patch from private lateral repair 
in street one year verification. 
No problems with asphalt were observed. 
See callout map. 

1/24/2025 12:00 PM Asphalt patch verification Asphalt patch from private lateral repair 
in street one year verification. 
No problems with asphalt were observed. 
See callout map. 

USA Location Requests – 185 
Plumbing permit inspections – 8  
Private Sewer Lateral Compliance Certificates Issued – 5 

74



January 2025 Cleaning Progress Report

California State Parks, Esri, TomTom, Garmin, SafeGraph, GeoTechnologies,
Inc, METI/NASA, USGS, Bureau of Land Management, EPA, NPS, USDA,

Line Cleaning January - 36,779 ft.

December - 43,407 ft. 

November - 32,553 ft.

Service Area

2/3/2025, 7:48:56 AM
0 0.6 1.20.3 mi

0 0.95 1.90.47 km

1:43,672

75



January Service Call Map

California State Parks, Esri, TomTom, Garmin, SafeGraph, GeoTechnologies,
Inc, METI/NASA, USGS, Bureau of Land Management, EPA, NPS, US

CAWD

PBCSD

PRIVATE

0 3,000 6,0001,500 ft

0 960 1,920480 m

1:34,832

CAWD

Powered by GID © 202476

lauer
Callout
Service Call 1/8/2025 11:00 AM

lauer
Callout
Service Call 1/16/2025 7:29 PM

lauer
Callout
Service Call 1/9/2025 11:00 AM

lauer
Callout
Service Call 1/12/2025 11:40 AM

lauer
Callout
Service Call 1/24/2025 12:00 PM

lauer
Callout
Service Call 1/24/2025 11:00 AM



 
 

   
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

    
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

 
     

  
  

  
 
 
 
 

 

  
  

  
  

      
  

  
    

  

To: Board of Directors 

From: Mark Dias, Safety and 
Regulatory Compliance Administrator 
(S/C Admin Dias) 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: Monthly Safety Report (for January 2025) 

STAFF REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION 

Receive Report- Informational only; no action required 

DISCUSSION 

Safety & Training 
• January (Jan) 7: Tailgate Training- Phone system review. S/C Admin Dias 

described three different emergency phone features. First, was the use of FirstNet 
cell phones available through AT&T. FirstNet cell phones will be prioritized for 
access to the cellular network in the event of a large-scale disaster. The FirstNet 
network also has mobile cell sites stationed around the country that would be 
mobilized to the area of a disaster. Next, the “broadcast” phone feature was also 
described and then tested. A dedicated button is available on the district phones 
where if anyone pushes the button it immediately broadcasts their voice to every 
other phone on the system. This is one way communication (the listeners cannot 
respond verbally). Each department took a turn using the system and broadcasting 
a message. Lastly, the 911 notification system was described. If anyone on the phone 
system calls 911, all phones generate a unique alarm sound and show which 
extension number has called 911. This would allow others to come to their assistance 
and/or direct responders to the exact location of the emergency. 

• Jan 14: Tailgate Training- Fire Hydrant Locations and Use. Greg Ange, 
Maintenance Mechanic III, gave an overview of the four fire hydrants located 
around the plant and how they are pressurized and could be used by the fire 
department in the event of a fire. 

77



 
     

 
   

    
 
 

  
 

     
    

     
 

 
 

 
    

      
    

 
  

  
 
 

   
  

  
  

  
     

  
  

 
 

     
  

• Jan 22: Tailgate Training- Lithium Battery Fires. S/C Admin Dias presented on 
how lithium battery fires occur, how they burn and what to expect during a fire. 
Lithium batteries are used in a wide range of handheld tools and they also power 
the two new carts used on the site. S/C Admin Dias described the five ways the 
batteries can experience a run-away heating event and catch fire. Emphasis was 
placed on knowing that if the battery is smoking, the run-away reaction is already 
occurring and usually cannot be stopped and the area should be cleared. 

• Jan 29: Tailgate Training- Expiration of COVID-19 Regulations. S/C Admin Dias 
informed the employees that the state regulations requiring employers to have a 
COVID response plan were expiring the next week. However, free tests will still be 
provided and employees still needed to inform their supervisor if they were positive 
for the disease. 

Ongoing Safety Improvements 
Maintenance Superintendent Chris Foley and S/C Admin Dias continued to implement 
safety improvements and seek input from the operations crew and the Safety Committee. 
Activities in January included: 

• Operational and safety improvement at chlorine disinfection contact channels 
(CDC). Effluent leaving the secondary clarifiers flows to the CDC channels by 
gravity. Chlorine is added just prior to the channels. The effluent contains very fine 
suspended solids. Over a period of several months the solids build up on the bottom 
of the channels reducing its capacity.  Historically the channels have been manually 
cleaned. This requires a complex confined space entry wherein operators have to 
descend into the channels, and crawl under a wall. Lighting is very poor, the floors 
are slippery and are sloped at one end. If a worker was to be injured or slip into the 
6-foot deep sump a rescue would be quite difficult. The improvements made were 
the installation of new pumps which can be programmed and remotely controlled 
to periodically pump out the solids. The intention is that, if successful, no more 
confined space entries will be needed. 

Tours and Outreach 
• Tours: No tours were requested in January.   

78



 
   

       
 

 
 

  
  

   
 

 

    

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
 
 

      
      

 
 

     

 
 

     

  
 

  

Injuries; First Aid Incidents; Workers Compensation Claims 
There was one new Workers Comp claims and no first aid injuries in January. The first 
matrix for 2025 is below. 

A laboratory employee accidentally pressed the button on a hand-held emergency air horn. 
This type of horn is typically used on small sailboats. A second lab employee later 
complained of pressure-like symptoms in one ear. Audiometry testing has been conducted 
and there is no hearing loss and the employee’s symptoms have resolved. There were no 
workdays lost. 

Work Related Injuries and Illnesses for 2025 Calendar Year 

TYPE 

New  
Incidents 
(Month) 

Total 
Incidents 

(Year) 

Total Days Away 
from Work 

(Year) 

Total Days of Job 
Restriction 

(Year) 

Cumulative days 
lost 

(Year) 
OSHA Injuries 1 1 0 0 0 
OSHA Illnesses 0 0 0 0 0 
Other WC 
Claims 

0 0 0 0 0 

First Aid 
(non-OSHA) 

0 0 0 0 0 

*Excludes holidays, vacation days and sick days 

FUNDING-N/A- Informational item only 

79



      

     

                    

  

                                                     

 

 

         

  

                          

 

                                   

 

          

 

                          

  

          

          

                                                    

 

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

 

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

         

              

         

 

                          

 

 

 

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report 

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS 2025 YEAR-TO-DATE 

Report for: 

January 2025 

Total 

Monthly, 

MG 

Avg. Daily, 

MGD 

Min Daily, 

MGD 

Max Daily, 

MGD 
% of Total MG acre-feet 

CAWD Flow 24.795 0.800 0.742 0.948 70.863 24.80 76.06 

PBCSD Flow 10.195 0.329 0.290 0.441 29.137 10.20 31.27 

Total Plant Flow 34.990 1.129 1.032 1.389 100.00 34.99 107.33 

Tertiary Flow 19.337 0.806 0.233 1.214 55.264 19.34 59.32 

Ocean Discharge 15.423 0.498 0.066 1.230 44.078 15.42 47.31 

Potable Water 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY 

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2025) 19.34MG (59.32acre-ft.) 

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-25)  9.86 BG (30.26 K acre-ft.) 

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production 301.83 MG (926.32 acre-ft.) 

ELECTRICAL COSTS 

Monthly Totals Jan'25 kWh Price per kWh Jan'25 Dec'24 Nov'24 Oct'24 

Secondary 94,323.00 $ 0.261 $ 24,642.12 $ 19,940.39 $ 17,820.02 $ 17,868.70 

Blowers 44,823.84 $ 0.283 $ 12,684.47 $ 12,599.08 $ 11,994.66 $ 11,706.78 

CAWD Total 139,146.84 $ 37,326.59 $ 32,539.47 $ 29,814.68 $ 29,575.48 

Tertiary 72,158.52 $ 0.285 $ 20,589.03 $ 19,124.01 $ 18,598.92 $ 18,328.58 

MF/RO 56,121.00 $ 0.314 $ 17,646.73 $ 34,832.88 $ 31,526.28 $ 33,897.62 

Reclaim Total 128,279.52 $ 38,235.76 $ 53,956.89 $ 50,125.20 $ 52,226.20 

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1) 
CAWD Total  $ 21,387.67  Reclamation Total  $ 54,174.68 

kW-h Per Acre Foot 

2024 2025 

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 

CAWD 940.34 1159.32 1156.77 1178.47 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Reclamation 2608.25 3138.42 1921.34 2018.55 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY 

Month Jan'25 kW-h Dec'24 Nov'24 Oct'24 Accumulated Totals 

Production,kW-h (2) 10,043 21,577 23,146 20,544 1,518,035.00 

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and Laboratory power usage. 

(2) Microturbine off-line on 1/18 due to bad circuit board. Waiting for repair parts from vendor. 

80



            

  

  

  

           

  

  

   

         

 
  

  

   

0.000 

10.000 

20.000 

30.000 

40.000 

50.000 

60.000 

Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 Jan 25 

Total Golf Course Usage 
Tertiary Flow, mg 

Total Potable, mg 

Total Golf Course, mg 

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg 

Tertiary Flow, mg 

Total Discharge, mg 

70.000 

60.000 

50.000 

40.000 

30.000 

20.000 

10.000 

0.000 

Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 Jan 25 

0.000 

10.000 

20.000 

30.000 

40.000 

50.000 

60.000 

70.000 

Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 Jan 25 

Total Inflow PBCSD Influent Flow, mg 

CAWD Influent Flow, mg 

Total Influent Flow, mg 

81



      

 

                          

 

 

 

         

              

         

 

 
 

 

  

 

  

                          

                          

 

 

                          

                          

                          

                          

                                                    

  

          

 

          

          

 

                          

 

         

  

                          

 

                                   

 

                          

 

                    

  

                           

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report 

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS 2024 YEAR-TO-DATE 

Report for: 

December 2024 

Total 

Monthly, 

MG 

Avg. Daily, 

MGD 

Min Daily, 

MGD 

Max Daily, 

MGD 
% of Total MG acre-feet 

CAWD Flow 26.684 0.864 0.702 1.302 69.760 336.27 1031.51 

PBCSD Flow 11.567 0.370 0.274 0.638 30.240 173.82 533.20 

Total Plant Flow 38.251 1.234 0.976 1.940 100.00 510.10 1564.71 

Tertiary Flow 31.866 1.028 0.708 1.220 83.308 297.46 912.44 

Ocean Discharge 4.893 0.158 0.075 0.455 12.792 199.71 612.60 

Potable Water 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY 

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2024) 297.45MG (912.44acre-ft.) 

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-24)  9.84 BG (30.20 K acre-ft.) 

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production 297.46 MG (912.89 acre-ft.) 

ELECTRICAL COSTS 

Monthly Totals Dec'24 kWh Price per kWh Dec'24 Nov'24 Oct'24 Sep'24 

Secondary 84,744.00 $ 0.235 $ 19,940.39 $ 17,820.02 $ 17,868.70 $ 21,994.59 

Blowers 52,265.36 $ 0.241 $ 12,599.08 $ 11,994.66 $ 11,706.78 $ 14,053.47 

CAWD Total 137,009.36 $ 32,539.47 $ 29,814.68 $ 29,575.48 $ 36,048.06 

Tertiary 82,816.60 $ 0.231 $ 19,124.01 $ 18,598.92 $ 18,328.58 $ 25,670.78 

MF/RO 123,120.00 $ 0.283 $ 34,832.88 $ 31,526.28 $ 33,897.62 $ 31,490.91 

Reclaim Total 205,936.60 $ 53,956.89 $ 50,125.20 $ 52,226.20 $ 57,161.69 

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1) 
CAWD Total  $ 18,508.70  Reclamation Total  $ 67,987.66 

kW-h Per Acre Foot 

2023 2024 

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 

CAWD 773.12 1209.16 1205.69 1484.05 940.34 1159.32 1156.77 1178.47 

Reclamation 2889.60 2142.43 1910.80 1951.37 2608.25 3138.42 1921.34 2018.55 

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY 

Month Dec'24 kW-h Nov'24 Oct'24 Sep'24 Accumulated Totals 

Production,kW-h 21,577 23,146 20,544 22,389 1,529,569.00 

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and Laboratory power usage. 

82



           

  

 

  

            

   

   

   

          

 
  

  

   

0.000 

10.000 

20.000 

30.000 

40.000 

50.000 

60.000 

Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 

Total Golf Course Usage 
Tertiary Flow, mg 

Total Potable, mg 

Total Golf Course, mg 

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg 

Tertiary Flow, mg 

Total Discharge, mg 

70.000 

60.000 

50.000 

40.000 

30.000 

20.000 

10.000 

0.000 

Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 

0.000 

10.000 

20.000 

30.000 

40.000 

50.000 

60.000 

70.000 

Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 

Total Inflow PBCSD Influent Flow, mg 

CAWD Influent Flow, mg 

Total Influent Flow, mg 

83



      

                    

  

                                                     

 

 

         

  

                          

 

                                   

 

          

 

                          

  

          

 

          

                                                    

 

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

 

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

         

              

         

 

                          

 

 

 

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report 

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS 2024 YEAR-TO-DATE 

Report for: 

November 2024 

Total 

Monthly, 

MG 

Avg. Daily, 

MGD 

Min Daily, 

MGD 

Max Daily, 

MGD 
% of Total MG acre-feet 

CAWD Flow 24.499 0.817 0.704 0.958 70.849 309.59 949.65 

PBCSD Flow 10.080 0.336 0.268 0.552 29.151 162.26 497.72 

Total Plant Flow 34.579 1.153 0.972 1.510 100.00 471.84 1447.37 

Tertiary Flow 29.798 0.993 0.838 1.219 86.174 265.59 814.69 

Ocean Discharge 2.928 0.098 0.074 0.152 8.468 194.81 597.59 

Potable Water 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY 

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2024) 265.59MG (814.69acre-ft.) 

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-24)  9.81 BG (30.11 K acre-ft.) 

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production 295.01 MG (905.39 acre-ft.) 

ELECTRICAL COSTS 

Monthly Totals Nov'24 kWh Price per kWh Nov'24 Oct'24 Sep'24 Aug'24 

Secondary 73,938.00 $ 0.241 $ 17,820.02 $ 17,868.70 $ 21,994.59 $ 23,660.40 

Blowers 52,169.60 $ 0.230 $ 11,994.66 $ 11,706.78 $ 14,053.47 $ 15,364.91 

CAWD Total 126,107.60 $ 29,814.68 $ 29,575.48 $ 36,048.06 $ 39,025.31 

Tertiary 73,297.12 $ 0.254 $ 18,598.92 $ 18,328.58 $ 25,670.78 $ 27,565.08 

MF/RO 107,508.00 $ 0.293 $ 31,526.28 $ 33,897.62 $ 31,490.91 $ 34,093.82 

Reclaim Total 180,805.12 $ 50,125.20 $ 52,226.20 $ 57,161.69 $ 61,658.90 

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1) 
CAWD Total  $ 17,015.20  Reclamation Total  $ 62,924.68 

kW-h Per Acre Foot 

2023 2024 

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 

CAWD 773.12 1209.16 1205.69 1484.05 940.34 1159.32 1156.77 N/A 

Reclamation 2889.60 2142.43 1910.80 1951.37 2608.25 3138.42 1921.34 N/A 

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY 

Month Nov'24 kW-h Oct'24 Sep'24 Aug'24 Accumulated Totals 

Production,kW-h 23,146 20,544 22,389 19,735 1,507,992.00 

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and Laboratory power usage. 

84



           

  

 

  

           

   

   

   

          

 
  

  

   

0.000 

10.000 

20.000 

30.000 

40.000 

50.000 

60.000 

Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 

Total Golf Course Usage 
Tertiary Flow, mg 

Total Potable, mg 

Total Golf Course, mg 

Outfall Flow, mg Total Outflow 
Tertiary Flow, mg 

Total Discharge, mg 

70.000 

60.000 

50.000 

40.000 

30.000 

20.000 

10.000 

0.000 

Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 

0.000 

10.000 

20.000 

30.000 

40.000 

50.000 

60.000 

70.000 

Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 

Total Inflow PBCSD Influent Flow, mg 

CAWD Influent Flow, mg 

Total Influent Flow, mg 

85



 

   

    

  

  

 

  

 

 

 
  

    
   

    

   

     

 
  

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Patrick Treanor, District Engineer 

Date: February 27th, 2025 

Subject: Monthly Lab Report 

RECOMMENDATION 

Receive Report - Informational only; no action required. 

DISCUSSION 

1. Staff completed sampling for ocean discharge toxicity testing and ocean plan 
priority pollutants. 

2. Staff facilitated the monthly meeting of the Central Coast Long-term 
Environmental Assessment Network (CCLEAN). 

3. Recruiting for a new Lab Manager is in progress. 

4. Wastewater Public Health Surveillance Update: The following tables show a 
summary of wastewater plant influent public health surveillance testing. 

Viruses Detected? Current Trend 
SARS-CoV-2 (COVID) Yes Flat 

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Yes Decreasing 

Influenza A and B Yes Elevated Flu Season Levels 

Monkey Pox Virus (MPKV) No N/A 

Note: Samples taken twice per week at CAWD Wastewater Treatment Plant. Tests 
completed by Verily Life Sciences LLC. 

86



    
 

    

    

    

     

  
  

 
 

 

High Risk Substances Detected? Trend Above/Below 
US Average 

Fentanyl Yes Variable Up/Down Below 

Methamphetamine Yes Variable Up/Down Below 

Cocaine Yes Variable Up/Down Below 

Xylazine (Tranq) No N/A Below 

Note: Samples taken once per week at CAWD Wastewater Treatment Plant. Tests 
completed by Biobot Analytics. 

FUNDING 

N/A Information Only 

87



    

   

   

       
 

 

      

     

   

   

  

     

 

     

    

         

        

      

   

   

 

    

   

 

       

   

    

  

    

  

 

  

 

  

  

  

 

   

  

  

   

 

      

  

    

      

    

    

    

    

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

tation Rehabilitat

ita & Gudalupe P

Highlands Fo

ons 15-Year CIP

024 Sewer Pipe R

2024 Manhole Co

Pipeline and Pum

ber Ranch Subdiv

añada Village Sub

ID Project 
Number 

GL Task Name Manager Start Finish Current FY 
Budget 

Cumulative 
Budget 

Status 23 2024 2025 2026 
H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 

0 Projects Implementation Plan Schedule 3/1/18 7/1/40 $0 $0 

Treatment Plant Capital Projects 7/1/19 2/29/28 $0 $0 

18-28 1626.000 Perimeter Tree Plan and Implementation Bandy 7/1/19 6/30/26 $0 $5,020 Reviewing Height of Existing 
Native Trees 

meter Tree Plan a 

19-18 1593.000 Perimeter Fencing Bandy 7/1/22 12/31/25 $25,000 $74,801 Design/CEQA Perimeter Fencing 

22-03 1639.000 WWTP Gas and Water Main Replacement Bandy 5/2/22 6/30/26 $300,000 $478,944 30% Design s and Water Main 

19-21 1993.000 Carmel River FREE Mitigation Treanor 6/1/20 12/30/26 $0 $0 Pending County Funding 
Agreement 

r FREE Mitigation 

22-04 1642.000 CAWD Bridge Project Treanor 3/1/21 2/29/28 $0 $12,994 Funding Strategy CAWD Bridge P 

22-06 1640.000 Vactor Receiving Station Bandy 7/1/22 12/31/24 $575,000 $680,222 Construction Phase eceiving Station 

Reclamation Capital Projects 8/2/22 6/30/25 $0 $580,000 

22-05 14794 Reclamation 15-Year CIP Master Plan Bandy 8/2/22 6/30/25 $349,250 $537,696 In Progress 15-Year CIP Mas 

Collections Capital Projects 4/16/18 7/1/40 $0 $8,139,000 

19-03 1586.000 Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement Treanor 8/1/19 6/30/26 $300,000 $1,015,235 Design Update In Progress mel Meadows Se 

20-07 1636.000 Bay/Scenic Pump Station Rehabilitation Bandy 12/31/20 12/31/25 $150,000 $298,087 On Hold tation Rehabilitat 

20-08 1635.000 Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting - Ocean to Bay Treanor 2/5/21 4/30/26 $2,000,000 $2,533,925 In Design / Permitting ursting - Ocean t 

21-05 1637.000 Carmel Woods and Pescadero Sewer 
Improvements 

Treanor 7/1/21 12/31/26 $500,000 $723,629 In Design / CEQA d Pescadero Sew 

23-01 1643.000 Santa Rita & Gudalupe Pipeline Rehab Treanor 1/1/23 12/31/25 $2,500,000 $2,653,098 Bid phase ita & Gudalupe P 

24-04 Highlands Forcemain Retrofits Bandy 4/1/24 4/1/26 $0 $0 Study Phase Highlands Fo 

20-06 Collections 15-Year CIP Treanor 7/1/20 7/1/40 $0 $66,372,100 Work In Progress ons 15-Year CIP 

Collections Non-Capital Projects 1/1/24 12/31/24 $0 $0 

24-01 6130.005 2024 Sewer Pipe Repairs Treanor 1/1/24 12/31/24 $410,000 $410,000 In Progress 024 Sewer Pipe R 

24-02 6140.005 2024 Manhole Coating Treanor 1/1/24 12/31/24 $460,000 $460,000 On Hold 2024 Manhole Co 

Assessment Districts/Annexations Lather 7/3/18 8/30/25 $0 $105,000 

19-08 1632.000 Carmel Valley Manor Pipeline and Pump Station Treanor 7/3/18 3/31/24 $0 $0 Startup Phase Pipeline and Pum 

18-29 2500.000 September Ranch Subdivision Treanor 9/1/22 8/30/25 $0 $0 In Construction ber Ranch Subdiv 

23-03 Rancho Cañada Village Subdivision Treanor 3/1/23 2/27/25 $0 $0 Sewer Agreement añada Village Sub 

Other Non-Capital Projects 3/1/18 2/29/40 $0 $0 

Workforce Now Lauer 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Time Card System Pilot 

Real Property Investigation Buikema 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Ongoing 

Cyber Security Foley 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Ongoing 

88



     

    

    
  

     

   

   

 

ID Project 
Number 

GL Task Name Manager Start Finish Current FY 
Budget 

Cumulative 
Budget 

Status 23 2024 2025 2026 
H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 

29 24-03 1644.000 Artificial Intelligence Pilot Project Foley 3/1/18 3/1/18 $150,000 $242,924 In Progress 

30 Source Control Six Sigma Treanor 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Restaurant Plumbing 
Inspections In Progress 

31 22-01 5500.006 Long Term SLR Planning Bandy 5/3/21 2/29/40 $250,000 $1,400,000 2023 Study Complete g Term SLR Plann 

32 Lab ELAP Accreditation Treanor 9/2/24 3/27/26 $0 $0 In Progress Lab EL 

89



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Treatment Plant Capital Project Summaries 

90



 

   

  
  

  
 

  
  

    
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

  
   

 
  

  
  

 
 

  
 
  

 
 

 
 

  
  

   

    
  

 
      

 

   
  

 

 
  

  
  

  

  
 

  

  
  

 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  

  
   

  
 

 
  

   
  

  

  
 

 

 

 

Photo: Eucalyptus trees on South Side of Treatment Plant 

Project Number: 18-28 
Project Name: Perimeter Tree Plan and 

Implementation 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Bandy 
Status: Reviewing Height of Existing Native 

Trees 
Project 
Description: 

Planning and landscaping around the 
treatment plant. This will include 
looking into possibly replacing the 
non-native eucalyptus trees around 
the perimeter of the treatment plant 
with native tree species. The project 
will start with a study and a plan to 
determine costs, sequencing 
schedule, and visual impacts. The 
Eucalyptus trees around the plant 
have ongoing maintenance costs, 
which may be offset in the long term 
with a different type of tree screening. 
The purpose is to improve security 
around plant perimeter. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$130,020 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$5,020 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation: N/A 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Currently unknown (In Study Phase) 

Challenges: Time it will take for new trees to 
grow up that will fully screen 
treatment plant from view 

Schedule: • Study moved to 2024; anticipate 
completion 06-30-26 

Consultants: Scott Hall Landscape Design 
Contractor: To Be Determined (TBD) 

Photo: Existing Dilapidated Fence 

Project Number: 19-18 
Project Name: Perimeter Fencing 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
(WWTP) 

Project Manager: Bandy 

Status: Design/CEQA 
Project Description: Install a new fence around the 

perimeter of the WWTP. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$74,801 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$103,893 

FY Budget: 
$25,000 

FY Spent: 
$54,093 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) Mitigated Negative 
Declaration (MND), Coastal 
Developmental Permit (CDP) 
Notification 

Challenges: Environmental Mitigations 

Schedule: • Design in FY2022-2023 
• Construction in FY2024-2025 

Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Contractor: TBD 

91



 
   

  
  

  
 

  
  

  
 

  
  

 
 
 

   
  

 
 

 
  
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

    

  
  

 
  

 
  
  

  

  
 

 

 

 
 

  
 

  
    

   
  

  
 

 
  

 

 
  

   

 
 

 
   

  
  

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

  
 

 
   

 
 

    
   

 
  

  
  

Photo: Gas Meter on North Side of River 

Project Number: 22-03 
Project Name: WWTP Gas and Water Main 

Replacement 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Bandy 

Status: 30% Design 
Project Description: The WWTP natural gas and water 

utility service exists on the 
opposite side of the Carmel River 
from the WWTP. CAWD owns the 
piping under the river for these 
utilities. The water line and gas 
line are PVC and identified as 
having a high risk of failure. The 
gas line is needed for plant 
operations to provide 
supplementary heating to the 
digesters for thermophilic 
digestion. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$478,944 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$181,533 

FY Budget: 
$300,000 

FY Spent: 
$2,589 

Reclamation Share: N/A 
Other Entities: Cost Share w/ Collections @ 5.5% 

Permits Required: TBD 
Challenges: Underground work in riparian 

area 
Schedule: • Currently undergoing 

alternatives analysis study 
• Design in FY2022-2023 
• Construction in FY2024-2025 

Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Contractor: N/A 

Photo: Carmel River Floodplain Restoration and 
Environmental Enhancement (CRFREE) 

Project Number: 19-21 
Project Name: Carmel River Floodplain 

Restoration & Environmental 
Enhancement (CRFREE) Mitigation 

Project Location: Carmel River Lagoon 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Pending County Funding Agreement 
Project 
Description: 

The CRFREE Project intends to 
create a new river channel in the 
Carmel River lagoon floodplain, 
which will significantly impact 
existing wastewater pipelines that 
cross the lagoon. To fully mitigate 
impacts from CRFREE the pipelines, 
which are currently crossing over a 
portion of the lagoon, are proposed 
to be installed underground using 
Horizontal Directional Drilling 
construction methods. 

Department: Engineering 
Financial: Coastal 

Conservancy 
Grant Budget: 
$750,000 

Cumulative Spent: 
$618,569 
FY Spent: 
$0 

** Project is being funded by CRFREE initiated grants 

Reclamation 
Share: 

N/A 

Other Entities: Monterey County 
Permits Required: Coastal Commission, CA Fish and 

Wildlife, Army Corp of Engineers, 
Reginal Water Quality Control Board 
(RWQCB) 

Challenges: Construction near environmentally 
sensitive habitat and obtaining new 
easement from State Parks 

Schedule: • Construction anticipated in 2025 
Consultants: Design: Kennedy Jenks and Staheli 

Trenchless 
CEQA: Johnson Marigot 

Contractor: TBD 

92



 

 
  

  
  

    

  
  

  
  

  
 

  
      

  
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

    
 

  
  

  
 

   
   

  

  

 

 

 
  

  
  

  

  
  

   
  

 
  

  
  

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

  

 
 

  
 

     

  

  

 

 

Photo: Conceptual Rendering of Public Use and Bridge 

Project Number: 22-04 
Project Name: CAWD Bridge and Trail Project 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 

Status: Funding Strategy 
Project Description: Construct a new bridge at the 

location of the existing CAWD 
bridge over the Carmel River. The 
Bridge would be open for public 
use and would allow for new 
walking trails to connect the City 
of Carmel-by-the-Sea (Mission 
Trail) to the Regional Parks (Palo 
Corona). 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$12,994 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$14,935 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$1,941 

**No budget. Funding potential via Carmel River 
settlement grants. 
Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: State Parks, Diocese of Monterey, 
City of Carmel-by-the-Sea, 
Regional Parks District 

Permits Required: TBD 

Challenges: Obtaining Funding and 
Community Support 

Schedule: Currently working on video and 
marketing outreach effort 

Consultants: TBD 

Contractor: TBD 

Photo: CAWD Vactor Truck 

Project Number: 22-06 
Project Name: Vactor Receiving Station 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Bandy 

Status: Construction Phase 
Project Description: Construct a new Vactor Receiving 

Station for the Collections 
Department and the disposal of 
waste collected in the vactor 
truck. 

Department: Treatment 

Financial: Cumulative 
Budget: 
$680,222 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$190,656 

FY Budget: 
$575,000 

FY Spent: 
$85,434 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: Coastal Developmental Permit 
(CDP) Notification 

Challenges: Design for ultimate user 
satisfaction. 

Schedule: Construction starts in June 2024 

Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Contractor: TBD 

93



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Reclamation Capital Project Summaries 

94



   
  

  
   

  
  

 
    

  
 

  
  

   
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

Photo: Exterior of Tertiary Building 

Project Number: 22-05 
Project Name: Reclamation MF/RO and Tertiary 

System 15-Year Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) 
Master Plan 

Project Location: Reclamation – Microfiltration 
(MF)/Reverse Osmosis (RO) and 
Tertiary Building 

Project Manager: Bandy 
Status: In Progress 
Project Description: Asset management condition and 

risk evaluations, development of 
projections of capital 
expenditures, and preliminary 
engineering planning 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$537,696 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$91,609 

FY Budget: 
$349,250 

FY Spent: 
$91,609 

Reclamation Share: 100% 

Other Entities: Reclamation Project 
Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Complexity 
Schedule: Planning Process will extend into 

FY 2025/2026 
Consultants: Kennedy Jenks 

Trussell Technologies, Inc 
Contractor: N/A 

95



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
 

 

 

  

Collections Capital Project Summaries 

96



 
    

  
  

   
  

  
  

   
 

 
 

    
  

 
  

  
 

   
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
  

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

 

    
  

  
  

 
  
  

   
   

  
  

 
  

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  
 

  
  

 
    

   
 

  
 

  
 

  

  
 

 

Photo: View gravity pipe in Carmel easement 

Project Number: 19-03 
Project Name: Carmel Meadows Sewer 

Replacement 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Design Update in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

The project will replace 1,300 
feet of Ductile Iron Pipe (DIP) on 
an aerial span and eight 
manholes by constructing a small 
pump station at the end of 
Mariposa Drive. This project is 
located on an easement parallel 
to Ribera Road and was originally 
installed in the early 1960's. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$1,015,235 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$803,726 

FY Budget: 
$300,000 

FY Spent: 
$83,883 

Permits 
Required: 

Coastal Permit and 
Environmental Review 

Challenges: Redirecting the sewer to the 
pump station without requiring 
ejector pumps. 

Schedule: Design and Environmental 
Review completed 6/28/22. 
Construction on hold for 
permitting. 

Consultants: TBD 
Contractor: TBD 

Photo: Looking at Pump Station Exterior 

Project Number: 20-07 
Project Name: Bay/Scenic Pump Station 

Rehabilitation 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Bandy 
Status: On Hold 
Project Description: Remodel the interior of the 

pump station and update the 
SCADA panel to minimize areas 
prone to flooding. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$298,087 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$148,087 

FY Budget: 
$150,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, Coastal 

Commission 
Permits Required: Exemptions from CEQA and 

Coastal dependent on panel 
location requirements. 

Challenges: Traffic Control, Panel Location 
away from bluff 

Schedule: Construct 2023/2024 Fiscal 
Year 

Consultants: TBD 

Contractor: Pending 

97



 

 
  

  
    

 
  
  

   
  

    
   

   
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
   

  
    

 
   

 
   

  
 

 
  

 

 

    
  

  
 

 
 

  
  

    
  

  
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
  

  
 

 
   

 
 

   
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Photo: Pipe Bursting Limits on Scenic 

Project Number: 20-08 
Project Name: Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting - Ocean 

to Bay 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Design / Permitting 
Project Description: Replace approximately 10,561 

linear feet of existing 6-inch clay 
pipe with a new 8-inch High-
Density Polyethylene (HDPE) and 
includes manhole rehabilitation. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$2,533,925 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$653,850 

FY Budget: 
$2,000,000 

FY Spent: 
$77,198 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, Coastal 

Commission 
Permits Required: CEQA & Coastal Development 

permits from City and County 
Challenges: Traffic control & poorly mapped 

underground utilities. Cultural 
Resources at southern end of 
project. 

Schedule: CEQA complete 2/1/2024, 
Construction 2025 

Consultants: MNS, Rincon, TBC 
Communications 

Contractor: Pending 

Photo: Sewer Line at Pescadero Creek 

Project Number: 21-05 
Project Name: Carmel Woods and 

Pescadero Sewer 
Improvements 

Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Design / CEQA 
Project Description: Install new pipe in road to 

divert majority of flow from 
pipe on slope. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$723,629 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$300,793 

FY Budget: 
$500,000 

FY Spent: 
$61,773 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Environmental Review 

Challenges: Narrow road, depth of 
manholes, environmentally 
sensitive area 

Schedule: Start design, public outreach, 
& Environmental in Winter 
2023. 

Consultants: MNS, Denise Duffy, TBC 
Communications & Media 

Contractor: TBD 

98



 

 

 

  
 

  
  

   
  
  

  
    

   
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

  
    

    
  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

  
   

   
  
  

  
  

 
  

 
 

  
  

   
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
   

  
  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Santa Rita & Guadalupe #23-01 

Project Number: 23-01 
Project Name: Santa Rita & Guadalupe 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Bid Phase 
Project Description: Approx. 5,800 ft of 6”vitrified clay 

pipe to be replaced with 8” HDP 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$2,653,098 

Cumulative Spent: 

$204,376 
FY Budget: 
$2,500,00 

FY Spent: 
$38,557 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, 
Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Traffic Controls 
Schedule: Construct in 2025.  Preliminary 

Plans Complete. 
Consultants: MNS Engineers 
Contractor: TBD 

Highlands Force Main Retrofits #24-04 

Project Number: 24-04 
Project Name: Highlands Force Main Retrofits 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Bandy 
Status: Study Phase 
Project Description: Proposed pipeline repairs to 

existing flushing connections, and 
air release valves. Includes 
provisions for potentially 
connecting the Point Lobos sewer 
to the District sewer at a location 
closer to Point Lobos to allow 
existing Point Lobos Force Main 
to be transferred to CAWD as a 
backup pipeline. 

Financial: Cumulative 
Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative Spent: 

$0 
FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Other Entities: California State Parks 
Permits Required: CalTrans Encroachment 
Challenges: Construction along Hwy 1 
Schedule: TBD 
Consultants: MNS Engineers 
Contractor: TBD 

99



 

      
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
  
 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

  
    

   
  

  

 

 

 

 

Photo: LT Capital Schedule 

Project Number: 20-06 
Project Name: Collections 15 -Year CIP 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Work in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Utilize updated sewer line 
inspection information and flow 
modeling to develop a 20-year 
Construction Improvement Plan 

Department: Collections 
Projection of 
Total Capital 
Costs-15-Yr $63M 

Construction 
Costs: $66M 

Administration 
Costs: $10M (20% 
engineering, legal, 
admin.) 

Financial: Cumulative 
15YR Budget: 
EST $66M 

Cumulative Spent: 

N/A 
FY Budget: 
N/A 

FY Spent: 
N/A 

Reclamation 
Share: 0% 
Other Entities: 
Permits Required: none 
Challenges: Magnitude and complexity. 

Schedule: 2020 - 2040 
Consultants: West Yost 

Contractor: N/A 

100



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Collections Non-Capital Project Summaries 

101



 

  
  

  
  

  
   
  
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

   
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
  

  
  

  
  

  

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo: Pipe Repairs 

Project Number: 24-01 
Project Name: 2024 Sewer Pipe Repairs 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Miscellaneous repairs of existing 
pipes in the collection system 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$410,000 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
N/A 

FY Budget: 
$410,000 

FY Spent: 
0 

Other Entities: N/A 
Permits 
Required: 

City and County Encroachment 
Permits 

Challenges: Varied site conditions from 
location to location, as well as 
various types of deficiencies to 
repair throughout the collections 
system. 

Schedule: 2024 thru 2025 
Contractor: TBD 

Photo: Inside of Sewer Manhole 

Project Number: 24-02 
Project Name: 2024 Manhole Coating 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: On Hold 

Project 
Description: 

Coating manholes to extend life 
span 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$460,000 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
N/A 

FY Budget: 
$460,000 

FY Spent: 
0 

Other Entities: N/A 
Permits 
Required: 
Challenges: 
Schedule: 
Contractor: TBD 

102



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Assessment Districts/Annexations 

103



 

   
  

  
 

 
  
  

   
 

 
 

 
  

  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

   
  

  
  

 
   
 

  
   
 

  
 

    

 

 

 

   
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

   

  

  

 

 

Photo: Entrance to Carmel Valley Manor 

Project Number: 19-08 
Project Name: Carmel Valley Manor Pipeline and 

Pump Station 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Startup Phase 
Project 
Description: 

Sewer extension project to be 
completed by the owners of Carmel 
Valley Manor to connect to CAWD’s 
sewer system. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: this is an 
unbudgeted item-
under repayment 
agreement (no 
funds received)-

Cumulative 
Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$180 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Other Entities: Various Private Land Owners 
Permits Required: County Encroachment Permit, 

Easements through Private Property, 
Environmental Review 

Challenges: Funding, Repayment Agreement, 
easement agreements, Local Agency 
Formation Commission (LAFCO) 
annexation 

Schedule: Construction Completion 
Anticipated in July 2024 (project 
over schedule) 

Consultants: MNS and Rincon are working for 
Carmel Valley Manor 

Contractor: Monterey Peninsula Engineering 

Photo: Map of September Ranch Subdivision 

Project Number: 18-29 
Project Name: September Ranch Subdivision 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

New housing subdivision is being 
built. Sewer infrastructure is being 
constructed by developer under 
jurisdiction of CAWD. 
Approximately 35 undeveloped 
lots. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: this is an 
unbudgeted item-
under repayment 
agreement 

Cumulative 
Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$ 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Developer Obtained Permits 
Challenges: Construction by developer. 

Schedule: Construction in 2024 

Consultants: MNS Engineers, Inc. 

Contractor: Don Chapin 

104



 

   
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
  

  
  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

  

  

  

Photo: Location of Rancho Cañada Village Subdivision 

Project Number: 23-03 
Project Name: Rancho Cañada Village Subdivision 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Sewer Agreement 
Project 
Description: 

New housing subdivision is being 
built. Sewer infrastructure is being 
constructed by developer under 
jurisdiction of CAWD. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: this is an 
unbudgeted item-
under repayment 
agreement 

Cumulative 
Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$ 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Developer Obtained Permits. 
Challenges: Construction by developer. 

Schedule: Construction Pending 

Consultants: Unknown 

Contractor: Unknown 

105



 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

Other Non-Capital Project Summaries 

106



 

              

  
  

  
  
   

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

  
 

  
  

   
  

 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

  
  

   
  
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

     

   
 

  
   

 

  

ADP Workforce Now 

Photo: ADP Clip Art 
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Workforce Now 
Project Location: All Supervisor Locations 
Project Manager: Foley 
Status: Implementation-Time Card System 

Pilot ongoing 
Project 
Description: 

Implementation of a 
comprehensive Human Resource 
(HR) software database for all 
supervisors and employees to 
utilize. Modules provide employee 
development tracking, benefits 
administration, custom 
performance review templates, 
and employee goal management. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative Spent: 
$2,520 (annual fee) 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$2,520 (annual fee) 

Challenges: Technical issues need to be 
resolved & employee training. 
Implementation of advanced 
features for employee 
development and learning 
management. 

Schedule: Currently working on Timesheet 
component. 

Consultants: ADP 

Photo: Real Estate Clip Art 

Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Real Property Investigation 
Project Location: Carmel Valley 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema 
Status: Ongoing 
Project 
Description: 

An investigation of a possible 
new treatment facility site in the 
mouth of the Carmel Valley, 
which is in response to the 
Coastal Commission. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$75,000 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$75,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: None – at this time 

Challenges: Limited land possibilities, 
regulatory hurdles, and zoning 

Schedule: open ended 
Consultants: Mahoney & Associates 

107

https://youtu.be/0_dJBfrta9g


 
   

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

  
   

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

 
  

  
 

 

 

 

 

  
  

  
   

  
   

  
  

 
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

  

  

 

  

Photo: Cyber Security Clip Art 

Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Cyber Security 
Project Location: District-wide 
Project Manager: Foley 
Status: Ongoing 
Project 
Description: 

Internal Cyber Security Incident 
Response Team (CSIRT) formed, and 
they are working on a response plan 
& training. The upgrades to email 
filtering system have been 
completed. Stricter geofencing 
policies have been put in place, and 
a cold backup system that is 
sandboxed from the network was 
installed March 2022. 

Department: All 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative 
Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Challenges: Ongoing training & the need for 
continual upgrades as skills of 
hackers grow. 

Schedule: Continually updating 
Consultant: Exceedio 

Photo: Grease Trap Graphic 

Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Source Control -Environmental 

Compliance -Six Sigma 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Restaurant Plumbing Inspections In 

Progress 
Project 
Description: 

A Six Sigma project to improve 
source control for grease laden 
wastewater being discharged from 
restaurants. Grease problems are 
ongoing and require more 
oversight of restaurants grease 
control activities. 

Department: Engineering 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$2,000 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Restaurant plumbing. 

Schedule: Ongoing 

Consultants: Carmel Fire 

108



 

  
  

  
   

  
  

   
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
  

  
 

 
 

  
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   

  
 

  
    

  
   

   

 

 

 

 

   
  

  
    

  
  

  
 

 
   

   
 

   

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

  
  

   
    

   
 

   

 

  

Photo: Futuristic Circuitry 

Project Number: 24-03 
Project Name: Artificial Intelligence Pilot Project 
Project Location: Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Foley 
Status: In Progress 
Project 
Description: 

A Pilot Project to test run new 
artificial intelligence algorithms 
on time series operating data 
being gathered in the existing 
Supervisory Control and Data 
Acquisition (SCADA) system. The 
new algorithms will be designed 
to conduct multivariate analysis 
of data for Anomaly Detection, 
and multivariate computations for 
process control. Initial investment 
in new computer hardware and 
software may be necessary as 
system requirements. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$242,924 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$145,975 

FY Budget: 
$150,000 

FY Spent: 
$53,050 

Permits Required: N/A 

Challenges: • Determining Hardware and 
Software needs to fulfill 
system requirements to run 
algorithms. 

• Database restructuring. 
Schedule: Work started in March 2024 and 

is anticipated to continue through 
end of Fisal Year (FY) 24-25. 

Consultants: Enterprise Automation 

Photo: California coastline 

Project Number: 22-01 
Project Name: Long-Term Sea Level Rise Planning 
Project Location: Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Bandy 
Status: 2023 Study Complete 
Project 
Description: 

As conditions of Coastal Permit #3-
82-199-A8 - the District submitted 
its Long-Term Coastal Hazards Plan 
on 03-03-22. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$1,400,00 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$219,862 

FY Budget: 
$250,000 

FY Spent: 
$219,862 

Permits Required: In response to California Coastal 
Commission 

Challenges: Establishing focus on long term 
objectives and committing to 
follow through items as outlined. 

Schedule: Most recent study completed in 
2023. Next study to start in 2024 
or 2025. 

Consultants: Greeley & Hansen 

109



  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
  
  

 
  

 
  

  

  

 

Photo: CAWD Lab 

Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Lab ELAP Accreditation 
Project Location: Laboratory 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Progress 
Project 
Description: 

State Water Quality Control Board 
Environmental Lab Accreditation 
Program (ELAP) ensures 
laboratories generate 
environmental and public health 
data of known, consistent, and 
documented quality to meet 
stakeholder needs. 

Department: Laboratory 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: N/A 

Challenges: Current accreditation expires in 
December 2024. To properly apply 
for accreditation will require more 
than 1-year of preparation to 
account for conducting ongoing lab 
duties. 

Schedule: Goal to apply for renewed 
accreditation in early 2026 

Consultants: N/A 

110



 
 

   
 

                                               
 

   
 

    
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
      

  

      
 

  
  

 
   

  
 

    
 

   
  

 
    

    
 

      
  

 
    

  

 

 

STAFF REPORT 
To: Board of Directors 

From: Ed Waggoner, Operations Superintendent 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: Monthly Operations Reports – January 2025 

RECOMMENDATION 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 

DISCUSSION 
Plant Operation 

Treatment Plant: 
• The treatment plant operations staff has continued finishing projects and 

concentrating on Preventative Maintenance Work Orders during the month 
of January.  

• On January 15, Operations worked with DC Frost and Associates to set up a 
maintenance service on the Ashbrook Beltpress. 

• Operation staff assisted Operations Superintendent in gathering information 
and data for the annual operations reports required by state and federal 
agencies. 

• Operations staff started the polymer upgrade project to be able to receive 
polymer in bulk rather than in 275 gallon totes. 

Reclamation: 
• January 14, intermittent water production started as the Forest Lake Reservoir 

reached 115 million gallons. 
• January 14, site visit from H2O Innovations to discuss Microfiltration (MF) 

and Reverse Osmosis Systems (ROS) performance and potential new cleaning 
regimens. 

• Staff continued preventative maintenance work on pumps, motors, and any 
equipment that needed maintenance for the Microfiltration (MF) and Reverse 
Osmosis Systems (ROS).  

• MF cells #1, #2, and #3 were cleaned successfully with Trans Membrane 
Pressures (TMPs) pressures ranging between 1.8 to 5.5 pounds per square inch 
(psi). 

• RO Trains B and C are operationally set for 90 percent recovery of feed water. 

111



 
       

 
    

  
 

  

  
 

 
 

   
  

  
   

 
  

   
 

   
  

   
   

 
  

  
  

    
 

  
  

 
   

 
 

   
 

     
  

 
 

 

Training: 
• Staff participated in scheduled tailgate safety meetings in the digester 

building conference room. 
• January 23, Operations Superintendent attended a Zoom webinar on “Rapid 

Recovery for Utilities Affected by Wildfires” presented by CAL Warn of 
Northern California. 

• January 28, Operations Superintendent and Senior Operators attended in 
person training on “Aeration Benefits in Secondary Treatment” by Monterey 
Bay Section of the California Water Environment Association at Monterey One 
Water. 

Meetings Attended 
• Weekly, Friday meetings with Sean Dingman on the new Mobile Maintenance 

Management Software. These meetings are designed to fine tune work orders, 
asset hierarchy, and general program navigation. 

• Weekly, Tuesday meetings with the Klir program representative on 
organizing all of Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) operational 
permits. 

• Weekly, Wednesday progress meetings with the Principal Engineer and 
Monterey Peninsula Engineering on the Vactor Receiving Station 
construction. 

• January 9, Operations Superintendent attended a Zoom meeting with the 
Water Awareness Committee of Monterey County. 

• January 16, Operations Superintendent attended a Zoom meeting with the 
Monterey Bay Water Works Association for upcoming training events. 

Annual Reports for 2024 
• Submitted the following Annual reports: 
o Annual Report for National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 

Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012, which included annual outfall 
inspection and Bio-solids disposal. 

o Annual Report for Reclamation Permit 93-72. 
o Environmental Protection Agency Sewage Sludge (Biosolids) Annual Report 

Permit CAL047996 
o CalRecycle Annual (4th Quarter) Biosolids Report Permit RD10733 

Discharge Permit Violations 
• There were no violations of Reclamation Permit 93-72 for the month of 

December 2024. 
• There were no violations of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 

System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012 within the 
month of December 2025. 

FUNDING-N/A-Informational item only 

112



 
 
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

  
 
 
 

    
   

  
 

  
     

   
 

   
 

 

   
 
 

     
  

  
 
 
 

 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: Monthly Maintenance Report – January 2025 

RECOMMENDATION 

Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 

DISCUSSION 

Maintenance Projects in Progress/Completed 

Chlorine Contact Channel Sludge Pump Automation 
The pumps that remove solids build up in the chlorine contact channels were upgraded. 
New piping with quick disconnects and automation was added to the system. The 
pumping time is now controlled from Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System 
(SCADA) and can be trended. The goal is to optimize the runtime to minimize the amount 
of sludge build. If successful, this will reduce the need to perform a confined space entry 
to manually clean the channels. 

Process Report Training 
Staff attended a live online class on the new process report software called eRIS. This 
software is used to build and edit daily/monthly operational reports. Staff are now able to 
edit and manage operational reports. The daily flow and chlorine reports are in 
production and staff are working with Enterprise Automation on the monthly report 
templates. 

Reclamation Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) Upgrade  
Rockwell Automation was onsite and completed the upgrade of the Input/Output cards. 
The existing network was a serial network similar to the large plugs on an old printer. The 
updated network is Ethernet, the same technology used to plug in a laptop to access the 
internet. The serial network is no longer supported, and a failure would have caused a 
prolonged shutdown of the system. The new system matches the rest of the systems in the 
treatment plant. 

113



 
 
 

  
  

    
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  
 

  

 

    
 

   
 
 

    
   
          
     
     
      

 
  

   
 
 

Reclamation Flowmeter Replacement 
The Reverse Osmosis (RO) Train A flowmeters were replaced. All 3 RO train flowmeter 
sets have now been upgraded. The blend line flowmeter was replaced. This flowmeter is 
critical and at the end of its useful life. 

Secondary Clarifier 2 Skimming Arm Repair 
The skimmer arm blade was replaced with an improved design so the end of the arm can 
be removed for maintenance. It was previously welded and bolted to the main arm which 
made it difficult to remove and repair. The new arm has u-bolts so it can be easily 
removed. The skimmers have wear items and require annual maintenance. 

Upcoming Maintenance Projects 

Hacienda Generator Replacement 
The new generator has arrived and is scheduled for installation in February. The existing 
station generator failed and a portable generator has been connected to the pump station 
until the new generator is installed. 

Boiler Building Sump Piping 
The building sump discharge piping was removed during the sludge holding project and 
a temporary solution was installed. A new permanent pipe will be installed from the sump 
to the sludge holding tank. 

Microsoft Training 
Staff are working on a Microsoft training plan for staff to better utilize the Microsoft 
applications. This is an important step to improve data collections and document 
management. Staff are familiar with standard applications such as Outlook, Excel and 
Word so this training will focus on OneDrive, Teams and SharePoint. The training will 
take place onsite using our systems to minimize travel time and provide the most value 
since it will be on our systems. 

Work Order Metrics 
Preventive Maintenance (January) 

Total Work Orders Generated 75 
Total Work Orders Closed/Done 67 
Total Work Orders Still Open 
Percentage of Work Orders 
Completed 89% 

114

8 



 
 

           
                                                
 

 

  
   
   
    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

   
   
           
 

 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
           

 
 

  

    

  

Corrective Maintenance 

January Corrective Work Orders By Priority 

2 
1 

6 

8 

0 

Emergency Critical Urgent 
Routine Projects 

August September October November December January 
Emergency 5 2 1 2 4 2 
Critical 3 3 3 1 3 1 
Urgent 2 1 7 2 5 6 
Routine 12 12 14 12 10 8 
Total Corrective 22 18 25 17 22 17 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

Corrective Work Orders-Past 6 months 

Emergency Critical Urgent Routine Total Corrective 

FUNDING-N/A- Informational item only 

115



 
 
 

     
 

     
 

   
 

   
 

 

   
 

 

  
 

 
  

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Patrick Treanor, District Engineer 

Date: February 27th, 2025 

Subject: Source Control Update 

RECOMMENDATION 

Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 

DISCUSSION 

This report is an update on Source Control activities associated with Fats, Oils, and 
Grease (FOG) discharge control activities. 

CAWD conducted drainage fixture surveys at 1 restaurant/commercial kitchen in the past 
month. There has been a total of 73 restaurants inspected since the start of 2024 (about 
100 restaurants total are in operation in the CAWD service area). CAWD is conducting 
these surveys as part of information gathering within restaurants subject to CAWD 
grease control ordinances. 

Below are the findings of the last round of inspections: 

Restaurant Fixtures Not Connected 
to Grease Trap 

Grease Trap 
Undersized 

Unlawful 
Disposal 

Highlands Inn 
(Pacific’s Edge) Yes No No 

Note: “Yes” denotes a violation of CAWD Ordinances 

FUNDING 

N/A Information Only 

116



Resolutions 

117



 
 
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
   

   
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Barbara Buikema, GM 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: General Manager  Cost Of Living Adjustment (COLA) 

RECOMMENDATION 

Recommend the Board authorize a resolution approving the General Manager’s Cost of 
Living (COLA) adjustment of 2.8% effective July 1, 2024.  

DISCUSSION 

In the past the Salary & Benefits Committee has approved the General Manager COLA 
and then forwarded it to the full Board for approval.  This year with Director Rachel’s 
passing that did not happen. Therefore, I am requesting the Board to approve the same 
COLA that staff received last July. 

Additionally, I have attached CASA 2024 Survey results showing agencies with 50 or 
fewer employees, and showing all agencies. 

FINANCIAL 

There is sufficient funding to cover this increase.  The twelve month cost is $6,608. 

118



119



120



  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-08 
DESIGNATING CLASSIFICATION TITLE IN THE 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
AND PROVIDING FOR THE NUMBER OF POSITIONS AND 

MONTHLY SALARY RANGES FOR NON-REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater District as follows: 

Section 1.  That the "Positions", "Classification Titles" and "Salary Ranges and Steps" enumerated below are 
hereby adopted for Non-Represented positions of employment in the Carmel Area Wastewater District: 

SALARY STEPS 

Positions Classification Titles A B C D E 
Non Represented Positions 

1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
0 
1 

11 

48 
n/a 
40 
38 
34 
34 
34 
34 
29 
28 
28 
23 

District Engineer 
General Manager 
Principal Engineer

   Maintenance Superintendent
Chief Plant Operator 
Operations Superintendent 

   Laboratory Manager 
Collection System Superintendent 
Principal Accountant 
Operations Supervisor 
Laboratory Supervisor 
Executive Administrative Assistant /Board Clerk 
Total Positions authorized 

16,889.48 

13,861.97 
13,194.04 
11,953.14 
11,953.14 
11,953.14 
11,953.14 
10,564.85 
10,307.16 
10,307.16 
9,110.03 

17,733.96 

14,555.07 
13,853.74 
12,550.80 
12,550.80 
12,550.80 
12,550.80 
11,093.09 
10,822.52 
10,822.52 
9,565.53 

18,620.66 

15,282.83 
14,546.43 
13,178.34 
13,178.34 
13,178.34 
13,178.34 
11,647.75 
11,363.64 
11,363.64 
10,043.81 

19,551.69 

16,046.97 
15,273.75 
13,837.26 
13,837.26 
13,837.26 
13,837.26 
12,230.13 
11,931.83 
11,931.83 
10,546.00 

20,529.27 
20,217.06 
16,849.32 
16,037.44 
14,529.12 
14,529.12 
14,529.12 
14,529.12 
12,841.64 
12,528.42 
12,528.42 
11,073.30 

Section 2.  That salaries paid to occupants of said positions shall be administered in accordance with Ordinance 97-2 
titled "Personnel Policies". 

Section 3.  The Provisions hereof shall be in force and in effect as of February 27, 2025 

Section 4.  That this resolution supercedes 2024-75 in its entirety. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater District duly 
held on February 27, 2025, by the following vote: 

AYES: BOARD MEMBER 

NOES: BOARD MEMBER 

ABSENT: BOARD MEMBER 

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBER 

ATTEST: 
Ken White, President of the Board 

_________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

121



 
 
 

     
 

    
 

   
 

     
     

 
 

 

  
  

 
     

 
 

 

  
 

  
   

 
   
   

 

 

   

   
 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) Unfunded 
Accrued Liability (UAL) for Classic & Public Employees’ Pension Reform 
Act (PEPRA) 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended the Board adopt a resolution approving the payment of 
• CalPERS Classic (Miscellaneous) Unfunded Accrued Liability in an amount not 

to exceed $664,000 from District Reserves 
• CalPERS Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) Unfunded Accrued 

Liability in an amount not to exceed $137,000 

DISCUSSION 

Unfunded Liabilities occur due to: 
• Actuarial experience is different than assumed, which is due to various factors 

such as market performance, demographic experience, or rates of retirement 
• Benefit enhancements adopted and not entirely funded such as early retirement 

windows or Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) 
• Higher than projected final average compensation 
• Granting prior service for benefits without funding 

For fiscal year ending 06-30-23 the District’s combined Classic and PEPRA UAL is 
$1,075,547. 

The CalPERS discount rate is 6.8%.  The County rate of return on deposits as of 09-30-24 
is 4.25%, or a 2.55% difference between amounts on Deposit with the County and 
CalPERS discount rate.  

122



 
 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
          
            

       
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

    
        

 
 

 

 
   

For the June 30, 2023 valuation both the Classic and PEPRA had UAL balances due to the 
causes above. 

Normal 
Accrued 
Liability 

Market 
Value of 
Assets UAL % Funded 

Reduction 
for 2024 

Adjusted 
UAL 

Classic $9,537,339 $8,636,501 $900,838 90.6% $237,500 $663,338 
PEPRA $1,677,363 $1,502,654 $174,709 89.6% $37,500 $137,209 

total $1,075,547 $800,547 

On July 15, 2024 CalPERS announced a preliminary 9.3%  investment return for Fiscal 
Year (FY) 2024.  After two years of investment underperformance, this is an encouraging 
change.  The return for 2024 marks the first time in three years that CalPERS was able to 
exceed their discount rate.  This translates into 2.5% of excess earnings over the 6.8% 
discount rate, which helps to lower UAL balances and payment amounts.  To estimate 
the excess return impact on our UAL we can multiply the market value of assets by the 
2.5% excess earnings.  Or, more simply, for each $1M in pension assets, roughly $25,000 
of existing UAL will be removed from our UAL account. 

Staff recommends paying down the 06-30-23 UAL as adjusted for 2024 above.  The 
District has sufficient funds available and the deposit rate at the County is lower 
than the CalPERS rate on the UAL. 

FUNDING 

Staff recommends a draw down of $801,000 to make an additional discretionary payment 
on the CalPERS UAL. Classic plan $664,000 and PEPRA $137,000. 

123



   

     

    

         

  

      

 

 

    
      

     
 

         
     

         

       

       
          

    
       

        
 

  

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-09 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF CALIFORNIA PUBLIC 

EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CALPERS) CLASSIC UNFUNDED ACCRUED 

LIABILITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $664,000 AND CALPERS PUBLIC 

EMPLOYEES’ PENSION REFOR ACT (PEPRA) UNFUNDED ACCRUED LIABILITY 

IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $137,000 WITH FUNDS FROM DISTRICT 

RESERVES 

-oOo-

WHEREAS, the Carmel Area Wastewater District has an Unfunded 
Accrued Liability with California Public Employees' Retirement System 
(CalPERS) for both the Classic Miscellaneous members and the Public 
Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA). 

WHEREAS, the Board agrees with the request to draw down on District 
reserves to paydown both the Classic and PEPRA accounts with CalPERS and 
believes this to be the best and most prudent use of District funds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 

1. The Board hereby agrees to paydown an amount not to exceed $664,000 to 
CalPERS for the Unfunded Accrued Liability in its Classic Miscellaneous 
account with funds from District Reserves, and 

2. The Board hereby agrees to paydown $137,000 to CalPERS for the 
Unfunded Accrued Liability in its PEPRA account with funds from its 
Reserve accounts. 

124



 
           

     
 

 

 
 

 

 

  
  

  

   
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

      

   
 

____________________________________ 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District at a regular meeting duly held on February 27, 2025, by the 
following vote: 

AYES: BOARD MEMBERS: 

NOES: 
BOARD MEMBERS 

ABSENT: 
BOARD MEMBERS 

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS 
__________________________________ 
Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

125



 
 
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

 
 

   
   

 
 

 

  
  

 
    

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 

  

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

To:  Board of Directors 

From: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: Strategic Asset Management  (SAM) Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) 
payment 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended the Board adopt a resolution approving the payment of $103,195 to 
bring the plan to a fully funded status. 

DISCUSSION 

The legacy pension plan (frequently referred to as SAM or Strategic Asset Management) 
is slightly underfunded, 98%,  effective the June 30, 2024 actuarial valuation.  It has been 
the District’s operational policy to keep this legacy plan as close to fully funded as 
possible.  Since 2014 any unfunded liability is determined over a 5 year period.  The 
actuarially determined contribution for the 2024/25 plan year is $20,639. 

Staff recommends that the District make a contribution to the plan for the full five year 
unfunded liability, or $103,195. 

The discount rate on the SAM plan is 4.5%.  This is a conservative assumption that could 
be reduced if it were increased. 

Currently the District has sufficient funds in reserves to make this contribution.  The 
earnings on the County Treasurer effective 09-30-24 was 4.25% 

FUNDING 

There is sufficient funding available in the District’s general reserve fund. 

126



   

    

    

        

 

     

         

      

         

   

    

         

       

       

   

 

           

     

  

 
   

  
   

   
 

      
 

 
 

   

__________________________________ 

______________________________ 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-10 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF STRATEGIC ASSET 

MANAGEMENT (SAM) UNFUNDED ACCRUED LIABILITY (UAL) IN AN 

AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $103,195 WITH FUNDS FROM DISTRICT RESERVES 

-oOo-

WHEREAS, the Carmel Area Wastewater District has an Unfunded 

Accrued Liability with its Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan known 

as the Strategic Asset Management Plan ; 

WHEREAS, the Board agrees with the request to draw down on District 

reserves to paydown the unfunded liability with its legacy Carmel Area 

Wastewater District Pension Plan (Strategic Asset Management) plan and 

believes this to be the best and most prudent use of District funds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 

1. The Board hereby agrees to paydown an amount not to exceed $103,195 to 

the Carmel Area Wastewater District Pension Plan from its reserve 

accounts 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area 

Wastewater District at a regular meeting duly held on February 27, 2025, by the 

following vote: 

AYES: BOARD MEMBERS 
NOES: BOARD MEMBERS 
ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS 
ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS 

Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 

Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

127



General Manager Comments�

128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



Other Items Before The Board�

150



 
  

 

  

 
 

  

  
 

  

 

  
      

     
  

  
  

  
    

  

  
 

     

 
       
 

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Barbara Buikema, GM 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: Keig Property – Highland Gas Station 
Connection 

STAFF REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff requests direction from the Board on scheduling a special meeting to discuss the 
Keig Property-Highlands Gas Station connection. 

DISCUSSION 

From the January 30, 2025 minutes: 

A Motion To Table Item #31 Regarding The Special Sewer Connection Agreement 
Discussion – Keig Property- Highlands Gas Station (70 Hwy 1) and bring it back to the next 
board meeting - Was Made By Director Urquhart And Seconded By Director Cole. Following 
A Roll Call Vote, The Board Unanimously Agreed To Table Item #31. 

President White requested if the applicant is in support of the motion? Steve Wilson 
requested that a special meeting be held to discuss this issue. President White requested 
that the applicant provide a date that is amenable. Director Cole agreed with the request 
for a single issue meeting (special meeting). President White requested consensus, and the 
Board was in consensus. 

Subsequent to the January 30, 2025 Mr. Wilson was contacted and asked if he would 
participate in a meeting at CAWD with Director’s White and Siegfried to discuss this 
item. Mr. Wilson declined but reaffirmed his interest in a special board meeting. 

This item is to request the Board discuss the procedural matter of scheduling a special 
meeting on this issue only. Mr. Wilson has not yet provided a date that is amenable to 
him and the Keig’s. 

FUNDING 

None at this time. 

151



 

      
 

  

152

CAWD 
Collections a 
Deep Dive 
into Data 
The conversion to a new CMMS 
program with integrated 
Collection System Optimization. 



   
 

  
   

 
 

 
   
   

 

CMMS 2.0 

November 2023 CAWD implemented a new (Computerized 
Maintenance Management System) 

New program 
chosen for both 
Collections and 
Treatment Plant. 

Importing of data 
and configuring of 
the program to fit 
the needs of CAWD. 

153



  
   

Deep Dive into Data 

 Gravity Sewer Cleaning Optimization 
Data Science 

154



  

    
 

     

   

  
 

  

Analytics and the steps in the process 

 GIS mapping update and conversion into a sewer/wastewater format 
recognized by Esri and ARCGIS (Industry Standard). 

 Review of cleaning frequencies and what was observed while cleaning. 

 Clean up of duplicate or missing data in CMMS. 

 Review of CCTV data. 

 Spill history. 
Daryl’s head 

is hurting 
from all this 

data 

155



 

   
  

      

   

      
       

     
 

   

Results 

 Cleaning frequencies for line segments set to 3,6,12,24,48-month schedule 
driven by the data. 

 Training for staff for consistencies in collecting data. 

 Accurate data fields in CMMS and GIS. 

 Examples in changes: Line segment P910 to P911 was previously on a 9-month 
interval is now on a 24-month using the data of what the operators are seeing 
when cleaning and Q831 to Q832 was on a 9-month and is now on a 6-month 
cleaning interval. 

 There are 2393 line segments in the District. 

156



Questions 

157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



 
  

  

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD)

 26900 State Route 1 

CARMEL, CA 93923 

ANNUAL NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE 

ELIMINATION SYSTEM 

(NPDES) REPORT FOR 2024 

- 1 -

185



 
  

  

 

  

  

  

  

   

  

    

    

   

  

  

   

  

   

   

   

   

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Table of Contents 

Coversheet .......................................................................................................... - 1 -

Table of Contents ................................................................................................ - 2 -

Introduction .......................................................................................................... - 3 -

Section A: Data Tables and Graphs .................................................................... - 9 -

Section B: Compliance and Performance ............................................................ - 21 -

Section C: Flow Evaluation .................................................................................. - 24 -

Section D: Operator Certification ......................................................................... - 31 -

Section E: Operation and Maintenance ............................................................... - 32 -

Section F: Laboratory Information ....................................................................... - 33 -

Section G: Sludge Management .......................................................................... - 34 -

Section H: Pretreatment ....................................................................................... - 40 -

Section I: Salt and Nutrient Management Plan .................................................... - 40 -

Section J: Collection System Management Plan ................................................. - 41 -

Section K: Mercury Seals ..................................................................................... - 46 -

Section L: Figures ................................................................................................ - 47 -

Lab Reports .......................................................................................................... - 49 -

- 2 -

186



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

  
  

  

 

    
 

   
   

 

    
   

 

 

 
 

  
  

  

 
      

 

 

  
   

   

      
  

 
   

   
   

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Introduction 

Facility Objective: Carmel Area Wastewater District protects public health and enhances the 
environment by collecting and treating wastewater while recycling valuable resources for golf 
course irrigation in the Carmel Bay region. 

Treatment Technologies Used 

The CAWD Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) has a permitted capacity of 3.0 million 
gallons per day (MGD) of dry weather flow. Current average dry weather flow (ADWF) is 
approximately 1.1 MGD which represents 37% of the permitted capacity. Of the 1.1 MGD, 
approximately two-thirds are from CAWD customers, and the remaining one-third is from 
Pebble Beach Community Service District customers. 

During large storm events the inflows can increase up to eight times the dry-weather rates. 
This requires the plant equipment and processes designed to handle large hydraulic loads 
during the winter months. 

Influent Pumping 

The purpose of influent pumping is to lift the incoming untreated sewage from the terminus of 
the several interceptor sewers up and into the headworks from where the sewage can flow by 
gravity through the other treatment processes. Approximately 97% of the influent sewage is 
pumped at the influent pump station; the remaining 3% is discharged directly into the 
headworks from the Calle La Cruz pump station in the Carmel Meadows subdivision. 

During power outages, a dual standby generator system automatically provides backup power 
to all four (4) influent pumps. There is always at least a 7-day supply of fuel onsite to power the 
standby generator. 

Headworks 

The headworks structure, together with the adjacent influent manhole, contains essentially all 
the pretreatment processes of the plant. Unit processes located within the headworks are 
influent flow measuring, automatic bar screening, grit removal and washing. 

The automatic bar screens removes rags and other large solids from the raw sewage and into 
a hopper which stores the screenings until they are removed and disposed of at the landfill. 

Grit (i.e. sand, coffee grounds, etc.) is removed from the raw sewage by means of settling in 
an agitated tank. The agitation keeps the lighter organic solids in suspension and allows the 
heavier solids to drop out and be removed by pumping the contents from the bottom of the 
tank into a grit classifier and washer. The grit washer further separates the heavier grit 

- 3 -

187

Domine Barringer
Highlight

Domine Barringer
Highlight



 
  

  

   
 

 

 
 

 

  
  

 
    

  
    

 
 

 

   
 

 

 

  
      

  

  
  

     
 

   

  

    
 

 

  
  

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

particles from the lighter organic matter and the grit is then disposed of into a bin for disposal 
at the landfill. 

Primary Sedimentation Tanks 

The Primary Clari-Thickener tanks remove the majority of suspended solids from the 
wastewater by gravity settling. CAWD has two primary Clari-Thickener tanks for redundancy. 
The Clari-Thickener combines the feature of a Primary clarifier for removing settleable solids 
and floating matter (scum) and a thickening well for concentrating sludge prior to withdrawal for 
further treatment. Each tank has a mechanical scraper which rotates around the sloping 
bottom and pushes settled sludge to a sludge thickening zone and a sludge sump. Sludge is 
withdrawn from the tanks and is transported to the anaerobic digestion tanks. Floating matter 
is mechanically skimmed into collecting hoppers and is also transported to the anaerobic 
digestion tanks. 

The primary sedimentation process is a physical process utilizing gravitational forces. 
Settleable and suspended solids, which are the major components of sludge and are heavier 
than water, settle out of the sewage along with any grit carryover from the headworks. Scum, 
which is lighter than water, floats to the surface and is removed by skimming. Approximately 
60 to 65 percent of the suspended solids will be removed by gravitational forces as part of 
primary sedimentation. 

Effluent from the primary sedimentation tanks overflows into double sided circumferential 
launders and then flows into either the primary equalization system or the aeration basins. 

Primary Equalization 

The flow equalization basins are designed to reduce flow to the treatment plant during daytime 
periods of high influent flow. Wastewater stored in the flow equalization basins is reintroduced 
into the normal wastewater stream at the option of the operator in order to maintain operation 
of the Reclamation facility when influent flows are low. This operation also ensures that influent 
flow can be prioritized for reclamation uses over discharge to the outfall. 

The reintroduced flow is pumped back to the Headworks. 

Diffusers are located in the flow equalization basin to prevent stored wastewater from 
becoming septic. 

Anoxic Selector 

The Anoxic Selector mixes the return activated sludge (RAS) from the secondary clarifiers 
with effluent from the primary clarifiers and equally distributes the combined flow to Aeration 
Basins No. 4, 5, and 6. 

- 4 -

188



 
  

  

   
 

 

  

  
 

   

 

    
    

  
  

      

   
 

    
 

   
  

 

 

    
  

  

 

 
 

 
   

   
    
   

 

  

2024 Annual Report

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 

Aeration (Biological Activated Sludge Process) 

The aeration structures (basins) are designed to promote the growth of helpful bacteria 
organisms which consume the nutrients in the sewage. This is called the "activated sludge" 
process. By injecting large amounts of oxygenated air, these bacteria thrive and consume the 
biological oxygen demand, ammonia, carbohydrates, fats, etc. in the sewage and convert it 
into bacterial mass or "sludge" for removal in the Secondary Sedimentation Tanks. 

The aeration structures can hold about 1.15 million gallons total divided into three separate 
basins. The helpful bacteria population is maintained in the basins by returning a portion of the 
sludge separated out of the water downstream in the Secondary Sedimentation Tanks back to 
the front of the Aeration Basins. This allows the helpful bacteria to live out their life cycle in the 
treatment process, all the while providing a beneficial service to the treatment process. 

CAWD utilizes A2O process which creates different zones in the aeration basins, some with 
oxygen (aerobic), and some without oxygen (anoxic/anaerobic). The different zones allow for 
selecting the types of bacteria that are the most beneficial and to enhance the nitrification 
process. 

Aeration in each basin is accomplished by air blowers feeding fine bubble diffusers at the 
bottom of each basin. Air flow is regulated by automatic dissolved oxygen (DO) control 
systems. 

Mixed Liquor Distribution Structure 

The Mixed Liquor Distribution Structure receives and combines the flows exiting the Aeration 
Basins. Combined flow is then gravity-fed to the Secondary Clarifiers. Two gates are used to 
control flow to each of the two Secondary Clarifiers. 

Secondary Sedimentation Tanks 

The Secondary Sedimentation Tanks are similar to the Primary Sedimentation Tanks except 
they are designed to remove lighter suspended solids. There are two tanks, each equipped 
with rotating mechanical sludge and scum collectors. The effluent from the Aeration Basins 
enters each tank through the bottom, rises up through the center column, and then is 
distributed into the sedimentation zone. Settled sludge is removed from the tank and clean 
water flows over weirs to the next step in the process (disinfection). The sludge is pumped 
back to the Aeration process to maintain the helpful microorganism population or wasted to the 
solid’s treatment process. Scum is collected from the surface of the wastewater in each tank 
and returned to a sump in the Aeration Structure, from which it is then pumped to the solid’s 
treatment process. 

The clean water coming out of the Secondary Sedimentation Tanks is clear and has 
exceptionally low concentrations of bacteria and ammonia. Disinfection/Dechlorination is next 

- 5 -

189



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 

  

      
  

  
  

  
  

    
  

      
 

     
  

  

 

     
   

 
  

  
  

   

  

 
   

  
 

    
   

   
     

 

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

and is the final treatment step before this water is sent to the Reclamation Facility or to the 
Ocean. 

Secondary Effluent Diversion Structure 

The Secondary Effluent Diversion Structure serves two purposes: 

1. Aiding downstream disinfection - Secondary flow enters the structure where an injection of 
Sodium Hypochlorite and aqueous ammonia is used for disinfection leading into the chlorine 
contact channels at the Chlorination Building. When ammonia is introduced under the 
appropriate conditions, it reacts with hypochlorous acid to produce monochloramine. 
Monochloramine is used as a disinfectant rather than free chlorine because free chlorine is 
detrimental to the Reverse Osmosis membranes at the Reclamation Facility. The amount of 
chlorine and ammonia required to produce monochloramine is based on the ideal weight ratio 
of 5:1. The desired ratio is controlled, monitored, and driven by programmable logic controllers 
at the in the Sodium Hypochlorite/Sodium Bisulfite Building and the ammonia injection system 
at the Tertiary Facilities. 

2. Flow Management – The Secondary Diversion Structure also receives the effluent flow from 
the Chlorination Building and either directs the flow to the holding basin at the Tertiary Building 
prior to reclamation or to the Outfall Building for ocean discharge. 

Disinfection/Dechlorination 

The last step to cleaning the water is disinfection/dechlorination. Disinfection is accomplished 
using liquid chlorine (i.e., bleach) which kills bacteria and deactivates viruses and protozoa that 
may be harmful to human health. A small concentration of chlorine is maintained in the water 
for about 2 hours to make sure all of the harmful pathogens are killed or deactivated. The 
residual chlorine is then removed using liquid sodium bisulfite. At this point, the water is safe to 
send out to the ocean, but most of the time it is sent to the Reclamation Facility for further 
treatment to allow the water to be reused for irrigating golf courses in Pebble Beach. 

Treated Water Pump Station and Ocean Outfall 

The treated water is pumped to Carmel Bay, or it is treated further in the Reclamation Facility 
and sent to Pebble Beach golf courses for irrigation. The water that is pumped to the ocean the 
majority of the year is concentrated brine which is the water left after treatment through the 
Reverse Osmosis (RO) system in the Reclamation Facility. The RO system removes dissolved 
solids (i.e., salts), which are collected in the brine. This brine is then pumped to the ocean. The 
salt content of the brine is lower than the salt content in the ocean and so there are no 
detrimental effects associated with the brine. During winter storms, when flows increase, a 
portion of the secondary treated wastewater is not sent to the Reclamation Facility and goes 
directly out of the outfall. 

- 6 -

190



 
  

  

   
 

      
   

  
 

 

  

  

 

 

   
  

  

  
   

    
   

  

   

 

  
  

 

  
   

  
 

 
  

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

A pipeline carries the treated water or brine to the ocean. The existing ocean outfall is a 24-
inch diameter, concrete encased pipe with 10 diffuser ports along the pipe. Each port has a 
rubber “duckbill” type valve to prevent debris from entering the outfall pipe during periods of 
low flow. The diffusers are designed to quickly disperse the treated water into the receiving 
water so that there is no environmental degradation around the outfall. 

Solids Treatment and Disposal 

There are several individual processes that are utilized to manage and treat the solids 
generated from the wastewater treatment process. These are: Sludge Thickening, Anaerobic 
Digestion, and Dewatering. 

Sludge Thickening 

The lighter sludge generated by the Secondary Sedimentation Tanks and the Microfiltration 
Membranes (Reclamation) are sent to the Dissolved Air Flotation Sludge Thickener (DAFT) to 
thicken the sludge before sending it to the Anaerobic Digesters. 

Thickening is achieved by adding fine air bubbles into a tank containing the light sludge. The 
air lifts the sludge particles to the surface so they can coalesce at the surface and be skimmed 
off in a more concentrated/thick state. This thicker sludge that is collected is sent to the 
Anaerobic Digesters. The liquid the solids are separated from is returned to the Headworks to 
be treated again through the plant. 

This is not required for the sludge from the Primary Sedimentation Tanks which is already thick 
enough to send straight to the digesters. 

Anaerobic Digestion 

The solids treatment process takes sludge and other solids and places them in an anaerobic 
digester where the sludge is kept at about 95 degrees and anaerobic bacteria are utilized to 
stabilize the sludge and remove pathogens. The detention time in the anaerobic digesters is 
maintained at around 20 days or more. 

A byproduct of the anaerobic digestion process is methane. CAWD uses the methane 
produced to generate electricity using two microturbines. The microturbines can produce about 
15% of the power demand required by the wastewater treatment plant (not including the 
Reclamation Facility). 

After the solids have been stabilized sufficiently by the digestion process the solids are held in 
a holding tank before they are sent to the dewatering equipment. 

- 7 -

191



 
  

  

   
 

   

   

    
   

 
    

 

  
 

 

   

    

 

   

   

  

 

    

  
 

  

   
 

    
  

  

 

   

    

  
 

 
  

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Dewatering and Land Application 

Dewatering is a physical/mechanical process used to reduce the moisture in digested sludge 
(biosolids). There are several reasons for dewatering sludge. In general, it is more economical 
to dispose of the dewatered sludge than it is to pump or haul liquid sludge to disposal sites 
because by reducing the moisture content, the sludge volume and weight are reduced. 

The CAWD plant uses a belt filter press or a screw press to dewater the digested sludge. This 
equipment presses out the moisture from the sludge to create a dry material that is essentially 
dirt that can be land applied. 

The dewatered sludge is hauled by truck to Kern County where it is used as a compost 
amendment for nonfood crops. 

Targeted Removals of Main Pollutants 

• BOD target removal 85% of influent average BOD per month. 

• TSS target removal 85% of influent average TSS per month. 

Overview of Any Liquid or Solid Waste Produced 

• Liquids see Section C Flow Evaluation 

• Solid Waste see Section G Sludge Management 

Upgrades Since the 2014 Permit was Issued 

New Structures: 

• Anaerobic Digester #2 - 450,000 gallons. 

• Digester Control Building for Anerobic Digester #2 with future space for cogeneration 
equipment. 

• Ferric Chloride Storage and Dosing for Sulfide control in digesters. 

• Sodium Hypochlorite/Sodium Bisulfite storage 9,000 gallons of each product, new 
chemical dosing pumps (with redundancy). 

• Storm water pump station to retain all storm water collected on facility site and treated in 
the plant flow stream. 

• Waste gas burner to meet the stricter clean air requirements. 

Existing Structures that Received Upgrades 

• Phase one completion 2017. 

• Dewatering Building received new screw-press and polymer systems. 

• Blower Building received new energy efficient blower and air diffuser 
membranes. 

• Dissolved Air Floatation Thickener received new solids collector and drive, 
sludge pumps, and air compression systems. 

- 8 -

192



 
  

  

   
 

  
 

 

 
 

   
  

 

   

   

  
 

  
 

 

    
 

     
 

  
 

 
  

    
 

   
 

   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

• Operations Building received new Motor Control Center, Programable Logical 
(PLC) Computer and Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System 
(SCADA). 

• Fresh Water System (1 water system) Air Gap System with dual 
repressurization pumps. 

• Return Activated Sludge (RAS)/Waste Activated Sludge (WAS) building 
received new Motor Control Center, Programable Logical (PLC) Computer and 
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System (SCADA). 

• The Chlorination Building removed all Chlorine (CL2) gas system. 

• Phase two completion 2023 included: 

• Influent pump station: 4 new influent pumps and Motor Control Center for 
building. 

• Headworks equipment: replaced influent flow meter, installed new slide gates, 
new grit collector drive, new grit washer, installed new influent screens and rag 
compactor. New Motor Control Center and instrumentation. 

• Chlorination/Dechlorination Building: installed new Motor Control Center and 
Programable Logic Controller. New chlorine analyzers and sample pumps. 

• Final Effluent Pump Station: replaced Motor Control Center and Programable 
Logic Controller. Replaced isolation valves on all pumps in station. Replaced 
effluent flow meter. Installed mixing system in wet well to prevent solids building 
up on the floor of the station. 

• Replaced main electrical feeds to all areas of Motor Control Center replacement 
including new power to Laboratory during power failures. 

Section A: Data Tables and Graphs 

TABULAR AND GRAPHICAL SUMMARY OF 2024 NPDES REPORTABLE DATA 

Influent Flows BOD Suspended Solids 

Month Total CAWD 

total 

PBCSD 

total 

Influent 

mg/l 

Effluent 

mg/l 

Effluent 

lbs/day 

Influent 

mg/l 

Effluent 

mg/l 

Effluent 

lbs/day 

Jan 46.648 28.966 17.682 222 7 56 456 7 56 

Feb 62.617 39.689 22.928 233 5 88 345 4 71 

Mar 54.062 34.659 19.403 275 6 79 404 5 66 

Apr 44.703 28.940 15.763 440 7 56 962 7 56 

May 41.687 26.209 15.478 276 11 14 1299 9 12 

Jun 37.804 24.432 13.372 360 10 9 1659 9 8 

Jul 39.815 26.784 13.031 440 12 15 1566 4 5 

Aug 39.961 27.385 12.576 444 12 12 1328 7 7 

Sep 35.109 23.926 11.183 342 16 15 1152 14 13 

Oct 34.859 24.098 10.761 339 9 8 913 32 29 

Nov 34.579 24.499 10.080 270 11 9 620 8.3 7 

Dec 38.251 26.684 11.567 291 9 12 683 7.7 11 

- 9 -

193



 
  

  

   
 

  
 

   

   

  

   

  

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

 

  
 

    

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

    

 

   

 

 

    

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

  

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Lab Data 1 

pH 

Sett 

Solids 

CL2 

Residual 

Removal Efficiency Effluent Units O&G 

Month Effluent 

ml/l 

Effluent 

mg/l 

BOD % T.S.S. % Min Max Effluent 

mg/l 

Effluent 

lbs/day 

Jan NODI(B) 0.00 97.0 99.0 6.7 7.2 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Feb NODI(B) NODI(B) 98.0 99.0 6.8 7.4 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Mar NODI(B) NODI(B) 98.0 99.0 6.8 7.3 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Apr NODI(B) NODI(B) 98.0 99.0 6.7 7.2 3.00 47.37 

May NODI(B) NODI(B) 96.0 99.0 6.9 7.4 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Jun 0.10 NODI(B) 97.0 99.0 7.0 7.3 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Jul 0.10 NODI(B) 97.0 100.0 6.9 7.5 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Aug 0.10 NODI(B) 97.0 100.0 7.2 7.5 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Sep 0.10 NODI(B) 95.0 99.0 6.8 7.4 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Oct 0.11 1.52 97.0 97.0 7.0 7.4 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Nov 0.10 0.00 99.7 99.9 7.0 7.3 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

Dec 0.22 NODI(B) 99.7 99.9 6.9 7.2 NODI(B) NODI(B) 

NODI(B) = NO DETECTION 

Lab Data 2 

Turbidity Ammonia 

Effluent 

mg/l 

Nitrate 

Effluent 

mg/l 

Effluent Sludge 

Cake 

Effluent 

Coliform 

Urea 

Effluent 

mg/l 

Silicate 

Effluent 

mg/l 

Month Effluent 

NTU's 

Temp    

Deg. F 

Total 

Cu.Yds. 

Bacteria 

mpn/100 

ml 

Jan 1.99 27.2 24.4 65.3 149.8 1.0 39 24 

Feb 2.17 4.6 11.7 64.8 124.1 1.0 76 28 

Mar 1.6 10.4 46.8 65.7 157.3 1.0 78 64 

Apr 2.2 16.6 40 67.5 146.5 1.0 74 99 

May 1.24 15.8 90.2 68.9 156.7 1.0 147 114 

Jun 1.41 35.8 156 70.5 174.4 1.0 224 214 

Jul 1.35 43.3 195 73.2 184.1 1.0 86 235 

Aug 1.34 24.1 180 75.4 213.2 1.0 119 230 

Sep 1.65 33.1 218 73.6 176.3 1.0 120 229 

Oct 2.53 37 186 73.2 147.0 2.0 255 212 

Nov 1.58 42 195 68.9 150.6 1.8 172 263 

Dec 1.84 29.8 208 67.3 159.6 19.6 116 230 

Lab Data 3 

- 10 -

194



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

 

    

           

 

 

            

 

 

            

 

 

            

 

 

            

 

 

            

 

 

            

 

 

           

 

 

            

 

 

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

  

 
 

  

. . . . . . . - --~ - - - - - _JI - -- - = - - -- - -- - - -

--&-

--

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Receiving Waters 

Total Coliform Fecal Coliform Entero. Org. 

Month K-4 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-5 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-6 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-4 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-5 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-6 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-4 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-5 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

K-6 

mpn/ 

100 ml 

Jan NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Feb NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Mar NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Apr NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

May NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Jun NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Jul NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Aug NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Sep NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Oct NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Nov NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Dec NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Lab Data 4 

0 

2 

4 

6 

8 

10 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

pH Units 

Effluent pH 
2024 

… 

Effluent pH Min 

Effluent pH Max 

pH NPDES Limit High 

pH NPDES Limit Low 

Graph 1 

- 11 -

195



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 
 

 

--+-

-

• 
/ 

/' 

- - ~ 

V 
~ ~ ~ ~ 

~ ~ ~ ~ / 
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Effluent Turbidity 
2024 

80 

60 

NTU's 

40 

20 

0 

… 

Effluent NTU's 

Turb NPDES Limit 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Graph 2 

0.00 

0.20 

0.40 

0.60 

0.80 

1.00 

1.20 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

ml/l 

Effluent Settelable Solids 
2024 

Sett Solids Effluent ml/l 

SS NPDES Limit 

Graph 3 

- 12 -

196



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

 

----

~ 
_/v ' 

- - - - - - - - "'- -- - - - - - - - - - -

~ ~ -c::i-

/ 
,-

~ 
-0-

~ 
_,._ 

( ~ :i........ 
-------.: i...... 

/ ~ 
-, r -----~ 

~ 
-.... 

~ 

,, "'\-. ---- -- 'I 

... - -. .,-

~ -----,_.,... 
~ 

-

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

-1.00 

0.00 

1.00 

2.00 

3.00 

4.00 

5.00 

6.00 

7.00 

8.00 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mg/L 

Effluent Chlorine Residual 
2024 

CL2 Residual (Continously Monitored) 

Effluent mg/L 

Chlorine NPDES limitation 

Graph 4 

0.0 

10.0 

20.0 

30.0 

40.0 

50.0 

60.0 

70.0 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

MGD 

Annual Influent Flows 
2024 

Influent Flow - Total 

Influent Flow - CAWD 

Influent Flow - PBCSD 

Graph 5 

- 13 -

197



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

 

 

  

l I I l 
l I I l 

-c::i-..... 
~ --

A ,- L 

~ ....... 
l" ~ V ~ 

L/ ~ '!.... L 
-......__ 
~ _,., .,_,. 

·-
u .. 

..--- ---- -

t + 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mg/L & lb/day 

Influent / Effluent BOD 
2024 

… 

Influent mg/L 

Effluent mg/L 

Effluent lb/day 

BOD NPDES Con. Limit 

BOD NPDES Load limit 

Graph 6 

0.0 

50.0 

100.0 

150.0 

200.0 

250.0 

300.0 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mg/L 

Effluent Urea / Silicate 
2024 

Urea Effluent mg/L 

Silicate Effluent  mg/L 

Graph 7 

- 14 -

198



Carmel Area Wastewater District 

- 15 -

 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

  

   

r-r--o.... 

/ ~"' 
~~ / 

I ' ,, 
~ 

I ~ u--

0....... _J -=-...... _._ ,_,... -- -- ~ - - - - - -

Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mg/L 

Effluent Ammonia / Nitrate 
2024 

Ammonia  Effluent mg/L 

Effluent Nitrate mg/L 

Graph 8 

Graph 9 

0 

500 

1000 

1500 

2000 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mg/L & lb/day 

Influent / Effluent T.S.S. 
2024 

Influent T.S.S., mg/L 

Effluent T.S.S., mg/L 

Effluent T.S.S., lb/day 

TSS NPDES Con. Limit 

TSS NPDES Load Limit 

199



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 

 
 

  

 

     

V ........... . -
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ / 

~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 

- - - ~ 

V -
~ V ✓ - - -

"'-/ 
V -

~ - V 

I - -+-- I 

~ ... 

V "" / '" 
~ 

V -r ~ 
~ / ....... 

.... ~ 

► 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Graph 10 

90 

92 

94 

96 

98 

100 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Percent (%) 

Effluent BOD & T.S.S Removal Efficiency 
2024 

BOD % T.S.S. % 

Effluent Temperature 
2024 

80 

75 

Deg. F. 

70 

65 

60 

… 

Effluent Temp Deg. F 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Graph 11 

- 16 -

200



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 
  

 

  

  

   

~ '-
_..-1 V ", 

/ ....-

' J L..... ....... ....-1 1 

~ / 
-, ... 

,_ -

-

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Sludge Hauling 
2024

250 

200 

150 

Cu.Yds. 

100 

50 

0 

… 

Sludge Cake   Total Cu.Yds. 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Graph 12 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mg/L &  lb/day 

Effluent Oil & Grease 
2024 

Effluent mg/L 

Effluent lb/day 

O&G NPDES Con. Limit 

O&G NPDES Load Limit 

Graph 13 

- 17 -

201



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 

~ { I 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

0.0 

0.1 

0.2 

0.3 

0.4 

0.5 

0.6 

0.7 

0.8 

0.9 

1.0 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mpn/100 ml 

Receiving Water - Enterococcus 
Monthly Maximum 

2024 

Entero. Org., K-4, mpn/100 ml 

Entero. Org., K-5, mpn/100 ml 

Entero. Org., K-6, mpn/100 ml 

Graph 14 

- 18 -

202



 
  

  

   
 

 

 
 

 
  

  

 

t 
t ,-

t -

... 
-

,_
 

-
-

,-

,-
-

,_
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

0.0 

0.5 

1.0 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Receiving Water - Fecal Coliform 
Monthly Maximum 

2024 

Fecal Coliform, K-4, 
mpn/100 ml 

0.0 

0.5 

1.0 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mpn/100 ml 
Fecal Coliform, K-5, 
mpn/100 ml 

0.0 

0.5 

1.0 

Fecal Coliform, K-
6, mpn/100 ml 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Graph 15 

- 19 -

203



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

    

~ 

-0,,. 

......... ,_ 

..... 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

0.0 

0.2 

0.4 

0.6 

0.8 

1.0 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mpn/100 ml 

Receiving Water - Total Coliform 
Monthly Maximum 

2024 

Total Coliform, K-4, mpn/100 ml 

Total Coliform, K-5, mpn/100 ml 

Total Coliform, K-6, mpn/100 ml 

Graph16 

0 

1000 

2000 

3000 

4000 

5000 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

mpn/100 ml 

Effluent Coliform 
Monthly Average 

2024 

… 

Effluent Coliform Bacteria,  mpn / 

100 ml 

Graph 17 

- 20 -

204



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 
 

     
  

     

   

   

   

   

   

    

   

   

 

      

   
      

 

   

     
       

 
      

 
      

  
      

  

    

 

    
     

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Water Supply Data 

Please see the attached Water Supply Data, Water quality report. 

Section B: Compliance and Performance 
• Treatment facility performance through percent removal of main pollutants. 

o BOD percent removal (2024 annual average) was 97.5% 

o TSS percent removal (2024 annual average) was 99.2% 

• Discussion of the previous year’s compliance record. 
• Any nuisance conditions or system problems. 

o None at this time. 

Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) had six (6) incidents of noncompliance for the year 

20243 for National Pollutant Discharge. The NPDES order No. R3-2014-0012 (B) Effluent 

Limitations- Discharge 001, Table 4 states, 1. “Total Suspended Solids (TSS) Maximum Daily 

of 90 mg/L” 2.  “Total Suspended Solids (TSS) Average Weekly of 45 mg/L, and “Total 

Suspended Solids (TSS) Average Monthly of 30 mg/L for Carmel Area Wastewater District 

(CAWD). 

CAWD experienced one (1) total violation for the month of September 2024. 

1. One (1) exceedance of the Maximum Daily limit of 90 mg/L. 
a. September 30th the reported value was 109 mg/L. 

CAWD experienced five (5) total violations for the month of October 2024. 

1. Two (2) exceedances of the Maximum Daily limit of 90 mg/L. 
a. October 1st the reported value was 96 mg/L. from Monterey Bay Analytical 

Services. 
b. October 9th the reported value was 94 mg/L. from Monterey Bay Analytical 

Services. 
2. Two (2) exceedances of the Maximum Average Weekly of Sunday through Saturday of 

45 mg/L. 
a. The week of September 29th through October 5th the reported value was 68 

mg/L. from Monterey Bay Analytical Services. 

b. The week of October 6th through October 12th the reported value was 57 mg/L. 

from Monterey Bay Analytical Services. 

3. One (1) exceedance of the Monthly Average of 30 mg/L. 
a. The monthly average for TSS for the month of October 2024 was 32 mg/L. 

- 21 -

205



 
  

  

   
 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

        

      

      

       

      

        

 

 

      

 

       

      

         

 

          

       

 

         

        

       

           

  

        

     

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Permit Violation Events: 

Permit Violation Events: 

Staff researched what could have caused the above listed exceedances of the Total Suspended 

Solids and concluded that two events happened together that caused the Permit Violations. 

1. Starting in mid-September all analysis of permit constitutions were transferred to 

Monterey Bay Analytical Services (MBAS) while Carmel Area Wastewater District 

(CAWD) staff is working on maintaining the Environmental Laboratory Accreditation 

Program (ELAP) Accreditation. ELAP is requiring all environmental laboratories like 

CAWD�to�meet�“The NELAC Institute” Laboratory�Accreditation (TNI 2016)�Standards�

which requires a major upgrade to data reporting and Quality Assurance/Quality Control 

documentation. 

Management decided to send permit required sampling out to a contact laboratory so 

CAWD’s laboratory staff could concentrate their time on the TNI 2016 Standards.�

a. Normally, TSS samples would be analyzed the same day the sample was collected 

by CAWD’s�laboratory and operations staff. But currently with the samples being 

received by MBAS, the samples were placed in a refrigerator and held for 2 to 5 

days before being analyzed. 

b. Legal hold times for TSS samples as outline by Standard Methods is 7 days before 

the sample deteriorates to the point of not being a representative sample for legal 

permit reporting. 

c. CAWD’s effluent�samples�(EFF-001) during this time of the year are close to 100 

percent Reverse Osmosis reject water which is highly concentrated in certain 

minerals, such as Calcium and Phosphorus which in time forms a precipitant 

which creates TSS. Other minerals also will tend to form precipitants as pH and 

Temperature change over time in the collected samples. 

2. The second event started on September 26, 2024, when CAWD had the Parkson 

Corporation perform a filter rehabilitation on the Dyansand filters that are used for 

pretreatment of the secondary treated wastewater that is fed into the Microfiltration and 

Reverse Osmosis process (MF/RO) at the advance tertiary level. 

a. The Dyansand filters in conjunction with the addition of Cerium Chloride 

coagulant remove Phosphorus and suspended solids to improve the performance 

of the MF/RO processes. 

- 22 -

206



 
  

  

   
 

 

         

      

       

 

 
 

 

        

        

 

 

    

         

 

 

         

      

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

b. Once the Dyansand filters and Cerium Chloride coagulant were shut down on 

September 26, 2024, the Phosphorus concentration increase in the RO reject water 

thus creating conditions to have larger amounts of precipitants come out of 

solution in the EFF-001 compliance samples. 

Corrective Measures: 

Staff contact MBAS and reviewed with CAWD’s Laboratory�staff�the analytical results�and�

requested that all permit required TSS samples be analyzed the same day when the samples are 

obtained. 

The second corrective action occurred on October 18, when Parkson Corporation completed the 

refurbishment of the Dyansand filters as pretreatment to the MF/RO process and placed the 

units back on-line while starting the Cerium Chloride coagulant. 

Laboratory data shows that once the sand filter pretreatment system and the Cerium Chloride 

coagulant were put back on-line on October 18, 2024, the TSS values were well within our permit 

limits. 

For Facilities That Measure Groundwater 

This Facility does not have requirements to perform groundwater measurements – Not 
applicable. 

- 23 -

207



 
  

  

   
 

 

    
 

 
 

  
 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

   
 

 
 

  
 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section C: Flow Evaluation 

2022 
INF Max Monthly 
Daily Flow MGD 

INF Monthly Flow 
Total MG 

January 2.019 40.807 

February 1.281 31.191 

March 1.317 34.43 

April 1.439 35.101 

May 1.254 35.091 

June 1.176 33.717 

July 1.209 36.043 

August 1.283 35.881 

September 1.503 33.941 

October 1.116 31.961 

November 2.040 34.002 

December 4.102 57.963 

Total annual flow 446.36 

Inf. Flow Data 1 

2023 
INF Max Monthly 
Daily Flow MGD 

INF Monthly Flow 
Total MG 

January 4.512 81.216 

February 2.596 43.194 

March 4.074 72.259 

April 4.867 43.486 

May 1.513 41.342 

June 1.288 36.572 

July 1.336 38.634 

August 1.335 37.315 

September 1.277 33.729 

October 1.140 33.587 

November 1.311 32.310 

December 2.695 37.449 

Total annual flow 440.128 

Inf. Flow Data 2 

- 24 -

208



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

  
 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

   
 

 
 

   

  

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

2024 
INF Max Monthly 
Daily Flow MGD 

INF Monthly Flow 
Total MG 

January 2.001 46.648 

February 4.006 62.617 

March 2.554 54.062 

April 1.895 44.703 

May 1.758 41.687 

June 1.320 37.804 

July 1.448 39.815 

August 1.485 39.961 

September 1.345 35.109 

October 1.222 34.859 

November 1.510 34.579 

December 1.940 38.251 

Total annual flow 510.095 

Inf. Flow Data 3 

2022 

Average Inf. monthly dry weather flow 

34.258 MG 

Average Inf. monthly wet weather flow 

39.097 MG 

2022 

Average Inf. monthly dry weather flow 

35.358 MG 

Average Inf. monthly wet weather flow 

53.158 MG 

2024 

Average Inf. monthly dry weather flow 

37.022 MG 

Average Inf. monthly wet weather flow 

47.995 MG 

* Order No. R3-2014-0012 defines dry weather June-Nov, wet weather Dec-May 

- 25 -

209



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

   

 

...... ...... ...... 

...... ...... ...... 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

M
G

D
 

Inf Flow Evaluation Max Daily Flow 

2022 Max Daily Flow 2023 Max Daily Flow 2024 Max Daily Flow 

Graph 18 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

M
G

 

Inf Flow Evaluation Total Flow 

2022 Total Flow 2023 Total Flow 2024 Total Flow 

Graph 19 

- 26 -

210



 
  

  

   
 

 

  
 

   

      

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

                                                            
 
 

  

   

   

   
  

 

   

   

   
 

  

   

   

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 

     

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Monthly Flow Total Eff 
(MG) 

2022 2023 2024 

Jan 15.525 60.192 29.658 

Feb 10.278 42.221 61.578 

Mar 6.519 74.411 48.796 

Apr 9.026 18.082 28.562 

May 4.660 7.018 4.919 

Jun 4.069 3.759 3.369 

Jul 4.033 3.316 4.504 

Aug 3.992 3.271 3.748 

Sep 3.596 3.021 3.435 

Oct 3.489 2.952 3.316 

Nov 4.016 2.854 2.928 

Dec 21.414 2.919 4.893 

Eff. Max Daily Flow Monthly 
(MGD) 

2022 2023 2024 

Jan 1.594 4.568 2.056 

Feb 0.916 2.810 3.989 

Mar 0.960 4.477 2.551 

Apr 1.124 1.928 2.073 

May 0.400 0.720 0.748 

Jun 0.329 0.322 0.123 

Jul 0.213 0.132 0.479 

Aug 0.189 0.118 0.139 

Sep 0.158 0.118 0.227 

Oct 0.130 0.107 0.124 

Nov 0.294 0.117 0.152 

Dec 3.184 0.117 0.455 

Eff Flow Evaluation 1 Eff Flow Evaluation 2 

Annuals flow totals (MG) 

2022 2023 2024 

90.617 224.016 199.706 

Average dry weather flow 
(MGD) 

2022 2023 2024 

0.127 0.105 0.118 

Peak daily average-monthly 
wet weather flow (MGD) 

2022 2023 2024 

0.791 1.295 1.093 

Eff Totals, Avg Dry Weather Flow, and Peak Wet Weather Evaluation 

- 27 -

211



 
  

  

   
 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

     

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

2022 BOD Loading lbs/day TSS Loading lbs/day 

January 19 46 

February 21 24 

March 19 31 

April 18 30 

May 18 21 

June 16 11 

July 18 12 

August 13 6 

September 16 8 

October 11 8 

November 10 6 

December 13 12 

Eff Loading Data 1 

2023 BOD Loading lbs/day TSS Loading lbs/day 

January 60 117 

February 42 73 

March 93 146 

April 23 24 

May 14 11 

June 14 10 

July 11 29 

August 11 18 

September 11 11 

October 7 6 

November 7 7 

December 9 8 

Eff. Loading Data 2 

- 28 -

212



 
  

  

   
 

   
 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

    

    

....... ....... ....... 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

2024 BOD Loading lbs/day 
TSS Loading 

lbs/day 

January 56 56 

February 88 71 

March 79 66 

April 56 56 

May 14 12 

June 9 8 

July 15 5 

August 12 7 

September 15 13 

October 8 29 

November 9 7 

December 12 11 

Effluent Loading Data 3 

EFF Flow Evaluation: Eff Monthly Flow Totals 

0.000 

20.000 

40.000 

60.000 

80.000 

M
G

 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

2022 Eff. Monthly Flow 2023 Eff. Monthly Flow 2024 Eff. Monthly Flow 

Graph 20 

0.000 

1.000 

2.000 

3.000 

4.000 

5.000 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

M
G

D
 

EFF Flow Evaluation: Eff Daily Max  Flow 

2022 Eff Daily Max 2023 Eff Daily Max 2024 Eff Daily Max 

Graph 21 

- 29 -

213



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 

 
  

   

   

....... 

....... 

....... 

....... 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Graph 22 

0.000 

0.500 

1.000 

1.500 

2.000 

2.500 

3.000 

3.500 

2022 2023 2024 

M
G

D
 

EFF Flow Evaluation: Avg Dry Weather Flow 

Avg. Dry Weather Flow Dry Weather Limit 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

lb
/d

ay
 

EFF Flow Evaluation: BOD Loading 

2022 BOD Loading 2023 BOD Loading 

2024 BOD Loading BOD NPDES LIMIT 

Graph 23 

- 30 -

214



 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
   

  
 

 
 

    
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

    

    

     

     

     

       

 
 
 

    

....... 

....... 
....... 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Graph 24 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

lb
/d

ay
 

EFF Flow Evaluation: TSS Loading 

2022 TSS Loading 2023 TSS Loading 

2024 TSS Loading TSS NPDES LIMIT 

To date there are no capital improvement projects current or forecasts that would increase 
flows to the wastewater treatment plant which would cause the plant effluent flows to reach 
80% of permitted capacity. Based on the three-year trends our evaluation indicates the 
wastewater treatment plant will not reach the permitted capacity in the next four years. The 
wastewater treatment plant is designed for effluent flows of 4.0 MGD and permitted for 3 MGD 
(monthly average dry weather flow). 

Section D: Operator Certification 

Name Operations Position 
SWRCB Certification 

Level Maintained 
License No. 

Edward Waggoner 
Operations 

Superintendent 
V 

4011 

Kevin Young Operations Supervisor V 9660 

Christian Schmidt Senior Operator III 28643 

Chris Dixon Senior Operator III 40697 

Michael Hooks Senior Operator III 41183 

Michael Garrison Operator II III 10674 

Charles DayEngel Operator II II 41894 

Rommel Lopez Operator I I 78920 

- 31 -

215



 
  

  

   
 

 
     

 
   

     

 

  

 

    

  

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

   

  

  

   

   

    

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section E: Operation and Maintenance 

The Carmel Area Wastewater District's Operation and Maintenance Manual was written and 

submitted to the district in 1987 following a large expansion project which was completed in 

1986. 

Modifications to the existing secondary treatment facility in support of tertiary filtration required 

modifications and updates to the Operations and Maintenance Manual. These modifications 

were completed, and the manual submitted to the district in 1996 

Updates to the Operations and Maintenance Manual were completed in 2018 by Engineering 

Firm Kennedy Jenks for the facility capital improvement project which was completed also in 

2018. 

• Standard Provisions A. 27 

Contingency plans and equipment are constantly being reviewed and upgraded as staff 

recognize deficiencies in Standard Operating Procedures or new Federal or State Regulations 

that deem further additions to the current contingency plans. 

CAWD currently has alternative power sources, standby-by generators, retention capacity, 

emergency operating procedures to protect against power outages, fire, earthquakes, flooding, 

and tsunami conditions. 

An example is alternative power sources is a second standby generator to provide power to 

the treatment facility in case of a power outage. The second generator automatically runs in 

tandem with the main standby generator until the second generator verifies the main generator 

is providing power to the treatment facility. At that point the second standby generator will go 

into standby mode. 

- 32 -

216



 
  

  

   
 

 

   
   

 

  

  

  

 

 

  

   

 

  

  

  

  
    

         
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section F: Laboratory Information 
1 Monterey Bay Analytical Services 

4 Justin Court, Suite D 

Monterey, CA 93940 

CA ELAP # 2385 

2 Aquatic Bioassay & Consulting Laboratories, Inc. 

29 North Olive Street 

Ventura, CA 93001 

CA ELAP# 1907 

3 Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) 

PO Box 221842 

Carmel, CA 93923 

(831) 257-0432 -Phone 

(831) 624-1478 -Fax 

CA ELAP # 1804 

4 Fruit Growers Laboratories (FGL) 

853 Corporation St 

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

CA ELAP # 1573 

- 33 -

217



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

   
 

   

     

 

   

     

   

  

  

     
     

 
   

    
 

  
   

   
    

   

    

  

  

 

 

 

   

  

  

 

 

    

 

 

 

    

 

  

 

   

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section G: Sludge Management 

• Discussion of any solids waste generated at CAWD’s Treatment Facility 
o There are three main types of solid waste generated at the Carmel Area 

Wastewater District’s Treatment Facility. 
▪ Rags, rocks, and other large solids from the influent flow 

▪ Grit (i.e., sand, coffee grounds, eggshells, bone chips, and possible large 

organic particles such as food waste from the influent flow. 

▪ Class B Biosolids from anaerobic digestion. 

• Technologies/Process prior to disposal of solid waste. 

o Rags: The automatic bar screen removes rags and other large solids from the 
raw sewage and puts it into a compactor that washes and dry is the material 
before being stored in a hopper which stores the screenings until they are 
removed and disposed of at the landfill. 

o Grit: is removed from the raw sewage by means of settling in an agitated tank. 
The agitation keeps the lighter organic solids in suspension and allows the 
heavier solids to drop out and be removed by pumping the contents from the 
bottom of the tank into a grit classifier and washer. The grit washer further 
separates the heavier grit particles from the lighter organic matter and the grit is 
then disposed of into a bin for disposal at the landfill. 

o Class B Biosolids: The solids treatment process takes sludge and other solids 

and places them in an anaerobic digester where the sludge is kept at about 95 

degrees and anaerobic bacteria are utilized to stabilize the sludge and remove 

pathogens. The detention time in the anaerobic digesters is maintained at around 

20 days or more. 

A byproduct of the anaerobic digestion process is methane. CAWD uses the 

methane produced to generate electricity using two microturbines. The 

microturbines can produce about 15% of the power demand required by the 

wastewater treatment plant (not including the Reclamation Facility). 

After the solids have been stabilized sufficiently by the digestion process the 

solids are held in a holding tank before they are sent to the dewatering 

equipment. 

o Dewatering and Land Application 

Dewatering is a physical/mechanical process used to reduce the moisture in 

digested sludge (biosolids). There are several reasons for dewatering sludge. In 

general, it is more economical to dispose of the dewatered sludge than it is to 

- 34 -

218



 
  

  

   
 

 

  

  

  

   

 

    

  

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 
   

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

pump or haul liquid sludge to disposal sites because by reducing the moisture 

content, the sludge volume and weight are reduced. 

The CAWD plant uses a belt filter press or a screw press to dewater the digested 

sludge. This equipment presses out the moisture from the sludge to create a dry 

material that is essentially dirt that can be land applied. 

• Ultimate Destination of Solid Waste Material 

o Rag and Grit Material Destination 

▪ Re Gen (Monterey Regional Waste Management District 

Landfill) at 14201 Del Monte Blvd, Salinas, CA 93908 

o Class B Biosolids Destination 

• Liberty Composting, Inc. 

1241 Holloway Road 

Po Box 5 

Lost Hills, California 93249-0005 

Sludge 

Cake 

Month 
Total 

Cu.Yds. 

Jan 149.8 

Feb 124.1 

Mar 157.3 

Apr 146.5 

May 156.7 

Jun 174.4 

Jul 184.1 

Aug 213.2 

Sep 176.3 

Oct 147.0 

Nov 150.6 

Dec 159.6 

Sludge Quantity 

- 35 -

219



 
  

  

   
 

 

 
 
 

  

Perloe': 

sample Date: 

CARMEL ARF.A WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
Annual Hiosolids f\.lonitoring Repor1 

.l:lnu:iry lC;'.!4 M.:ir¢h 2{)::!ll 

11-Jon-24 

EPA 503 ~IJutffin limit, for l• • d upj'llkutic,r, 
Polluumt Coric:cntmions 

N•rne Cancentr:ni,:,11 (mglke) 1,10 (r.n sou 31 
POLLUTANTS 0<')• W~itht vii!~,; ink~kd l ,nonlt1lv AVG) 

AAt!rN:J~• t,)I) 

t.tsenic ND 4 1 me/Ke 
81Hiulh 83,7 
rse,.,liu1n 1.86 
Boron .,. 
Cs dmlum <l.1.6..'t 39mM<t 
Chromium 3.78 
r:01)11tt NO 
Co 184 1soo me/K~ 
Lead l~l wor.1 ... ,"J;p 
Mol cmum 9 .70 
Ni~ki:d 3.23 •120 Me/Kt! 
Phos.-...0tU$ 11200 
S:dcniwn 2.ll9 10~.ne,'Ke 
Sll\"<!r ND 
Thi!.!lium ND 
Vatiadiurn 2A5 
J::inc 486-0 280:) ll)Oit(o 

Alrunani~ Nhraa,.., 1010 
cv.,nl\1(: TOt<II ND 
NitnH:e Hitro 0.7 
Nlu o .. e"' Tou:i1G=h:lc1hl IO~('A) 
pll 7A2 
~Xlfld$ 21.~ 
Mer(U')• 1., 17111dk"i:: 
G~,t.ff/Oil 2200 
Hex Oiromium 0.50 

P:\tbogu A~u1:tion (.&(I CFR $-03.31) 
Cit.~ a; • (P:.i:tP) A l);)(t'l)b i( Oi~~!it.111 est !)~ F for mlnlmttm o t l S Mvs 

VC'lt:tC)l' AUl'fltflO)t lte(.h11:1fon (40 CFR 503.33) 
Optiuu 1-vs n:111,u;c::1 r,y a mln!m1.1m o r&:•;,;. 

C•rtlfic:@tif>ll 
I cert{lj.; wuf<:r ~null)' of/aw. that cJ.e Cifl,)')· lJ parhogm !'e(Ntira,nehlts in ;SOJ. J1 <md the l'€Ctor 
t)/ln,,:1it»t ;-.:ducrfrmr~(!hb-.;,,-,~,.ti in .SIJJ .• 1.1 ushsg optlcu !Ji hant he.-:,, mu. 111.is ,'lt.•t.ermlm<litm 
J,u.~ h'1·tm m<«k undt·r ll(li d!recfi(m aml :mpervmo,1 tn ac,•MJO,,.:e wiih the .S)'$(em dt.tigm d t , ) e,r,;,m: 
lhul qoolj/1'{:d Pi'.J'Sctmel /Jrttfttirlyw1t/1,-r <md l!l''<lhidle tl,e bifimm,lim, 11Md to ds!#'111lht• t>iul the 
;-:,,:,uhl)gt!tl a11d 1-e·,,w,· ,,uru1:,iv11 rtrdltH!rm requtrem,11:JS h<l~'t: b<-tm mtl. I am «w(u•-1 thui /h(:r t : llf(! 

sig11ifi,-:rn11~halti~Nfiir Jal.st e.erritieatlou i111:ludi11gfirie and imprl tcmnt:f'll ". 

C1:1 lln,; Concei,tr.; tlo t\S 

r.:o CFR S03.13) 
(\1<1ily nli!Nmuful 

,S MO,<O 

., 
" 

4 ;l(l(l1'1"1!1/k11 

840nw'kt 
75 1ng~g 

420 mltfl<it 

J.00,n 

7S00me/~ 

5-1 mpfte. 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Biosolids Data 1st Quarter 

- 36 -

220



 
  

  

   
 

 

 
  

CARMRT. AR~A WA.STEWATER DISTRICT 
Annual Biosolids Monitorin('.; Report 

.April 20i4 • June 20<!-1 

EPA !OJ polletlt'ln ll.cnil!I filr liU1d a,1111ic:1tlio1t 
Pci lut:ll'lt Coneenu:itian:= 

~,11,0!! concentratton (mWt1,::1 (40 rn:t50U ~) 
POLLVT.",NTS Ori• Web ht unlesslnd1C41Ed 1mo11thl-.. A\'G\ 

Arrt:imO""' ,io 

A ri.ei,ilr. ••• .t 1 mfjKP, 
Barium 70/j 
5er~El.lm NO ,.,... 12-, 
CDdmii::rn D.7 3, 111f}K?, 
Chromlul'll ••• 
Cobalt NO 
Copper 211.0 1500m 
t e11d I .. , X<l- •K11 
MOlvt:10:-etlUrYl 4.38 
Nickel ~ ... 420 M"'/I('-' 
Phesnhuuu 4910 
Sdi:nium ND 100 flt1'1Kt: 
Slf'.~r ND 

n ia!liu.r1 ... 
'l&!ntl'.tlium 5.44 
l ine , .. 2800 n-<&fkg; 
"-mmoAI~ Nltroeen 135()..(!0 
O,,•ntde, rotu 1.00 
Nilf:1NNit •• ... 
NitrOfle,\ T« IIII Kii:ld;,hl '11200 

•• 7.31 
,C Solids 26.30 
M ercur..- o.s 17m~/l<c 
Gr<11:i~e/QII 32-00 
llc:x Cl-.romlurn >ID 

Pa1lalllC'" llc-chu:ti~n (40 CJ'R 503.31) 
Cl~i!: 8 4 (PSRP)An~c:im blt 1:Y,e.?Sti0(18t 95 F fo, minimum ofl!i d;yl 

V4?ctl)r .\Uract«.1t1 ltedw:tion (4-0 CFR 503.33) 
Opt.ion 1 4 vs rn:luccd b}• ~ mlnllYIUlll Of 3~ 

CtertitK'atioo. 
f ,:.-,•Jf~ ~md.::r ;vma/ty qf h:11v, ih,'11 d ,c Class D pa;.'/ti~n nquir{lm,1m1s ,.r. .rr.;,1.,iZ and r,'J$ w c.•,•i>1• 
;dP·(l¢tlM red:i1.'flM r:tq uirt:m(f,:: in SOJ.JJ !:.1fi:£ opt if);"( ( i ) huvrr btttfn m,tl . 111.'s dit~rr.:{n,.-r:tw: 
/fas be:tfl 111'1.de 1.1,1,J!lf my d ir,Y ·rlrm m id su;,¥1>1,hiw, in ,l(.·~r,rdm,~ w f lh h~ $j,Sf <-m d..'<:lic'.m • d 1u cn~we 
::'»r qum't!frd pe-r:wM·1:l propt.tr ,'y gat/J>tr arJ:t e~'(l,l:,()11;; li,vt fo/iµ·.-»:,'t.km ,'iee.d u, d,nti·ml11e 11:w ii:.:! 
pathogen w«i vr.r.tw r::tracricr. l'~dut:I!® nttfl.'iro:m(fn!s ha,,,~ bre;i Jl/'eL { am CJwa,·.! rJu:: :l.v,rre (f)\~ 
~(f!/,;/'NJt111I pt''l(,1/r,::-sf ()."iil!.~ ¢t .Wtl,fhw:/w1 fru:/u;ll,ig/!•J,4! a,,d ! l'tlJ"'IJW11','fl!11( ". 

CQHlng C'.t1ll(,fll\;'r.)otl()n$ 

(,WQR .S0l.13) 
fd:iil., m.;,xirr.t1m1 

75 mi::tKi: 

8S 1111t /K,:: 

<13COm 
S.V.>m,tk11 
75 0\:l~ ... "" 
1.00 mi._/K;, 

750J WI." ( Ki> 

-

57m 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Biosolids Data 2nd Quarter 

- 37 -

221



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

  
 

Period: 

Sample Date: 

CARMEL A REA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
Annual Biosolids Monitoring Repon 

July 2024 • September 2024 

EPA 503 pollution limits for hind application 
Pollutant Concentrations 

Name COncentratlon (ms/kl) (~CFRSOl.13) 
POLWTANTS n..v Welaht unle.ss indicated !monthtv AVG) 

AnrlnvvN NO 
Arsenic 71.5 41 m.lK. 
Barium 65.7 
Bf!:tvllium 0.27 
Boron 8.47 
cadmium 0.A7 39-'"-
Oiromlum 4.02 
Cobalt 2.05 
re,,,,.,.., 172 1500-•"'· 
Lead 9.41 300--'"-
Motvbdenum 5.97 
Nktel 3.30 420 MoN. 

I Phn<nhorus 11200 
Selenium NO 100-•"'· 
Silver NO 
Thallium ND 
Vanadium 2.43 
Zinc 302 2800ma/ka 
Ammonia N,tr,,...n 1330 
""'nld ... Total NO 
Nitrate Nitr011en 0.26 
Ni"""'en, Total Kleldahl 7160 
pH 6.67 
"Solkls 20.8" 
Mercurv O.A6 17 ma/K.1 
Grease/OIi 6100 
Hex Chromiwn ND 

P1tbo,:en Reduction (40 CFR 503.32) 
Class 8 - (PSRP) Anaerobic Dicestlon at 95 f for minimum of 15 davs 

v .. ctor Attraction Reduclion (40 CFR 503.33) 
Option 1 - VS red~ by a minimum of ~ 

C ertification 

I certify. under penolry of/aw, thm the Class B poJhogen requiremenu in .SOJ.J1 and the wctor 
a/traction nductlon n,qufre-nt In .SOJ.JJ using option ( I) have been met. niu deurminoJlon 
has been made under my dinction and s~rvlslon In accordance with the system designed to Mture 
that qualified personnel properly gother and evaluote the l,rform01lon used to de.termine that the 
pathogen and wcror attraction reduction requin,ments have been met. I am aware thot there ore 
s,gnificant penolties for false certif,catlon Including fine and Imprisonment". 

NarM & Title: Edwud Wagoner• Of!!radons Superintendent 

Sltnature: j)A f•M4 \.J, ~lb 
Telephone Number: (831) 624-1249 

oa~ f - ,21,( -.20:JS '. 

~llna Concentrations 
(~CFRSOl.13) 

!dailv maximum! 

75mR/K.I 

as ma/Ka 

4300ma/ka 
840mo/l<o 

75 Mo\•o 

420ma/'U 

100 mll/K4! 

7500mo11<0 

57 fflO/ICO 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Biosolids Data 3rd Quarter 

- 38 -

222



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

  

rer1od: 

Sample l>ate: 

CARMl:L Al.~EA WASTEWATER OlSTRl(.T 
Annual Rioso!ids MonitorinGc R~port 

Octi,.,":,;,r :i"OM • ~ce«ibtf' 20?4 

EPA 503 VollullO• limib; for l11a!J •ppliuti(ln 
Pall11'1:.'111t Co11ceM1:1tian1, .,,.,. Col-icent1:1tion (mf/ke) (40 CFR SOl.ll) 

POLWTANTS, On• 'l\'Cl.'lht Ut'lle:;s l>1d iti11¢(1 lmo111hlu,W(;) 
Antil"Oom• ND 
Arsenic , ... 41mit/lC:-
8111ium 62.5 
8eh'llium •o 
80,on 6.Sl 
''"·" "i11tt1 0,'127 ~ /l'UtlKa 

Chn:.nium '·"' Colx,lt 0.51.l 
COlll)e( 168 ISOJ t'l'C/ICr. 
Lo>d 5,37 lOOm 
Mot-;b:l~num 4.12 
Nickl 2.81 420Mi,:/I(;: 
l'hO~OrlJS 8,940 
~k:nium 3.09 1Q0 m••/ K<' 
SU•;er "" l h:illlmn ... 
V.:,011tlium 0.986 
Zint 327 iaoom 
AMmc<lia l'litro"t:11 1110 
C>t.anlde, Total 3,26 
Nitt~Nit ., "" mv<ii.tn, Totlll Xk l~;ihl 10,700 

"" ••• 
¾Solids 19.9% 
M~l~l,ltv 0.]8 17mc/1(11 

GrNSl:/Oil 4200 
HexOlmmh:m NO 

PuthoJ,.."C:ft Reduction (◄0 CFR 503.3?) 
CISS5 ll· !PSRP>An:m1ook, lll~StlOl'l~C 9S F rOt' minimum o f 1S 11;,,.~ 

\lttfl'lr .,\ttntctio11 Redllt l iOll (40 CF'R 503_\~) 
Oph::in l • VS r@dUCed b'( a r'll illirn~ m gf l8¼ 

Cet1lfica1i1m 
I CNl!jy, utid."fr ,')(lm,/lyQ_{ i'<lk', :,'l<l( t ,'xt C.'Af.«. R /J.'J'J~·,~m rY.V[Uir?Jt1t11n l !'i J(JJ.Jl a,:H tl:.r 1<1i;:J1ar 

(Jf/rm:lfon n .:d',1C·1k,n N qu&~11~'11f in SQ.LU U$i,,g cprfrm (Jj .'o/lve iJo:!:tN met. Tiu·~ d.:.(Mrnt,11,(i<.m 
,',.,~ · l;(;'i!,1 made ufide ... lffli(l!,.;c;ti,.,u (md $/q.el"l,'iSioX m a>:ea"(./atli't'. wM, tlir-: cy,·tttm rl.>Ki!!"{f>"d:., ,»J,♦IIN! 
lh't::! tp1uf{i'kd ,"IC"~·o,.nel P,' OMriyg<1,•h~, r.:,~·J r.w,l..a:,• rlls fnJOimath'm u,1:d ,,, 1lr-:1t-:r.rJn;; ,l,m :lie 
f;\'Jih,:,m.-: a:t.'iW't'.fOI' t1Tm~1io,,· T1:tl,,r:1i1J" Nf1'11inm,'$r:t! hm~ ~e,.. mttl. I mn 1.:wmv; !,')(If rl.'6¥'\' :V'i 

.\"~"!11i/iamt pc,:af;fn ffff fa.~~e ,.vtrt;Jh:11tk,;1 imt~1dJng /tM W>'t<' if)(pr!.vmll'..:•:t.~. 

~Coocent,at!oos 
l40 CFA: S-03, 13) 

!cl.lit..m,,<,,ri1,1111i 

75 me:'KF, 

!St1\' 

.,.,. . 
M OM~ 
'5 m 

4:WmR/KF. 

tOOma/!Ce 

7SOOm 11/I(# 

~7 meik'J: 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Biosolids Data 4th Quarter 

- 39 -

223



 
  

  

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

      

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

  
 

 

 
   

 

  

  

 

 
     

 
     

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Month 

Detention 

Time (days) 

Temperature 

(F) 

Volatile 

Solids 

Reduction 

(%) 

Jan 33 100.3 69% 

Feb 34 99.5 65% 

Mar 31 96.1 61% 

Apr 32 100.4 71% 

May 33 100.5 70% 

Jun 27 101.3 62% 

Jul 28 100.9 67% 

Aug 27 102.4 63% 

Sept 29 96.4 46% 

Oct 36 102.6 65% 

Nov 34 100.7 68% 

Dec 35 98.6 69% 

Biosolids Data Class B Requirements 

Section H: Pretreatment 

In 2024 CAWD completed 70 inspections of food service establishments. CAWD also updated 

its administrative penalties ordinance to enhance enforcement provisions for illegal discharges. 

The District maintains a registry of commercial dischargers and conducts influent sampling as 

needed. 

Section I: Salt and Nutrient Management Plan 

This facility does not need a salt and nutrient management plan. – Not Applicable 

- 40 -

224



 
  

  

   
 

 
      

  

  

 

  

   

 

   

 

     

      

  

  

    

    

     

       

  

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section J: Collection System Management Plan 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 

Collections Annual Report For 2024 

This report provides an overall summary of system wide cleaning and Closed Caption Television Viewing 

(CCTV) activities, construction, and Sewer Spill information for the year 2024. 

Cleaning Activity: The collection crew maintains 408,581 feet of gravity sewer lines and 21,600 feet of force 

mains in the District. During 2024, staff cleaned the entire system in a little over 8 months. The cleaning 

methods used were hydro cleaning, flushing and root foaming. 

Activity Feet Cleaned 

Cleaning - Jetting 364,159 ft. 

High Frequency Lines 49,328 ft. 

Root Foaming 31,792 ft. 

Flushing 1,923 ft. 

Total 447,202 ft. 

- 41 -

225



 
  

  

   
 

 

     

        

      

   

 

 

    

     

 

 

  

        

    

  

 

 

Iii Iii 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Cleaning Activity 

Cleaning / Jetting 83% High Frequency Lines 11% Root Foaming 5% Flushing 1% 

Maintenance Activity: Collection crews responded to 41 service calls, with private lateral backups 

attributing to the majority of calls. The remaining complaint calls were due to odor, pump station related 

problems, and rattling manholes. There were 2,089 Underground Service Alerts calls requesting sewer 

locations to be marked. Collection crews completed8,934 feet of sewer line CCTV inspections. 

The District’s root foaming program treated 31,792 feet of problematic lines with roots. This program is an 

additional tool in our Collections maintenance toolbox. The treatment is on a three-year rotation of chosen 

line segments. 

Construction Activity 

Spot Repair Project: 

• In 2024, CAWD worked with multiple contractors to complete 11 spot repairs within the District’s 
system. Each repair was bid on by contractors and was within the GM signing authority. All spot 

repairs were completed by 12/31/2024. 

- 42 -

226



 
  

  

   
 

 

  

     

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

        

    

  

 

    

  

      

     

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Other Notable Activity: 

In 2019, a new ordinance was passed that required the Private Sewer Lateral (PSL) to be inspected and 

repaired as needed at the sale of the property, a remodel over $50,000.00 USD, excessive spills, or a violation 

of the ordinance. (Ordinance 2019-01) 

PSL 

Year Compliance 

Certificate 

issued 

2019 105 

2020 335 

2021 300 

2022 261 

2023 197 

2024 147 

Total PSL’s Issued 1345 

This year there were 160 lateral permit inspections performed and 147 PSL certificate of compliance 

certificates issued in 2024. Since the adoption of Ordinance 2019-01 the District has inspected and issued 

1,345 Private Sewer Lateral Certificate of Compliance, which represents 19% of the Districts connections 

inspected. 

The Collections Department attended all the required safety training and attended both the California Water 

Environmental Association (CWEA) annual conference and the California Sanitation Risk Management 

Authority (CSRMA) Sewer Summit online. In the Spring and Fall of 2024, the Collections staff cleaned the 

storm drain interceptors and catchment ponds for the city of Carmel- by- the-Sea. 

- 43 -

227

https://50,000.00


 
  

  

   
 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

   

 

 

   

 

 

 

    

   

 

 

  

        

   

 

 

 

 

 

■ 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Sanitary Sewer Overflow (SSO) Summary: 

DATE SSO # SPILL 

LOCATION 

GALLONS 

SPILLED 

GALLONS 

RECOVERED CAUSE OF SPILL 

3/30/2024 1 25995 S. Carmel 

Hills Dr. 

2250 637 Roots 

8/9/2024 2 2845 Ribera 

Road, Easement 

behind address 

26001 0 Grit/Debris 

SSO #1: Spill appeared from the clean out of 25995 S. Carmel Hills. The spill was caused by partial root 

blockage growing in at an abandoned lateral connection. Repairs have been made to remove the abandoned 

connection. 

SSO #2: Occurred at manhole S622, in an easement located behind 2845 Ribera Road in Carmel Meadows. 

This manhole has a history of overflows caused by grit/debris that collects in the main line due to a large sag. 

This line segment is scheduled to be replaced during the Carmel Meadows Replacement Project (Project ID 

#19-03). 

Sewer Main 10 Year SSO History 

0 

2 

4 

6 

8 

10 

12 

14 

16 

18 

20 

SSO Occurences 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

- 44 -

228



 
  

  

   
 

 

 

 

 

  
  

 

 

  

0 •Ml1tf<,;r, 
Cd ( l..t>I<> 

-
Pfl("'_•m 

PRl'/ATC 

C":Awn 

Spill Map 2024 

• 
• 
• 
• 

(,--►••an.-"llff\~--...-~ 
~ 11u-.ao_ ~ ..,_ ., i...t 11.-....-,. --. - • JtS -__ .,,.oo•-

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Cause of Spills Since 2014-2024 

Roots 

Grit/Grease 

Free Flowing Roots 

Other 

56%27% 

9% 

8% 

- 45 -

229



 
  

  

   
 

  

   
 

  
 

  

 
 

  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 
 

  

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section K: Mercury Seals 

This facility does not use Mercury Seals – Not Applicable. 

. 

- 46 -

230



 
  

  

   
 

  

   
 

 
 

 

l·t+ ------------------~ 
r _______ J ________ , 
I 

I 
I 
I 

' 
--'0, -

, . 
/ I 

( L __ ._..-::" - + ,.~ 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
X 

J__ ==-= -- ---- ---
-~ WoHN.DENTPROJECT 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

Section L: Figures 

CAWD Plant Flow Schematic 

- 47 -

231



 
  

  

   
 

 
 

.:~ 
IUIGNuilrTAL 

11 __ -----, 

r - - -~-----;.----r-----

--I L __________ .~ 

-- ~I!!!~-------=:- I 
I 

i ---- -------- ---
-;;;~PRMCT 
~~~EW.~ 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

CAWD PLANT SAMPLEING LOCATIONS 

- 48 -

232



 
  

  

   
 

 
   
 

 
  
   

 
 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Secondary NPDES R3-2014-0012 
2024 Annual Report 

CAWD Building and Storage Locations 

Lab Reports 
This facility’s Monitoring and Reporting Program requirements do not have specific annual 
monitoring. 

- 49 -

233



 
   

 

   

    

  

    
  

  
   

 
  

      

  

            
     

     
 

     

  
  

    
 

  
  

 

STAFF REPORT 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

Board of Directors 

Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

February 27, 2025 

CalPers Section 115 - January 2025 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff requests direction from the Board on Section 115 trust fund. The question was 
asked at the January 2025 regular meeting: Whether CalPERS Section 115 investments 
consistently are able to outperform the market. Such investments represent an additional 
commission on ratepayers’ funds compared to leaving funds with the ratepayers and 
requesting contributions when CalPERS issues requests for supplementary contributions. 
There are advantages and disadvantages to maintaining Section 115 investments. Should 
Carmel Area Wastewater District continue investing in Section 115 funds? The motion to 
cease funding failed in January. 

DISCUSSION 

Board vote from the January 30, 2025 minutes:  

o A Motion To Cease Funding CalPERS 115 Was Made By Director Siegfried And Seconded by 
Director Urquhart To Leaving Funds With The Ratepayers And Requesting Contributions 
When CalPERS Issues Requests For Supplementary Contributions. After The Roll Call Vote 
There Were No Votes from Directors Cole and President White, With Yes Votes From
Director Urquhart and Siegfried. Following A Roll Call Vote, The Motion Failed. 

An IRS approved Section 115 trust program is designed to prefund pension costs and 
address pension liabilities to help mitigate long term contribution rate volatility and 
reduce long term costs.  A Section 115 trust is a low cost tool (25 basis points with 
CalPERS) and can generate a higher rate of return than a general reserve fund.   

Staff recommends that the District continue funding the Section 115 but move funds to 
Strategy 1 or take a blended position in both Strategy 1 & 2.  Strategy 1 has a higher 
expected rate of return and volatility.  Strategy 2 has a lower expected rate of return and 
volatility. 

234



 
 

    
 

 
 
 
 

   
 

  
 

    
 

  
 

  
   

 
   

  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CalPERS makes no claim to “beat” the market.  Rather they are taking a moderate 
approach that will help build value over the long term. 

It is a misnomer to say that the District is “funding” the Section 115 Trust by making a 
contribution.  Staff would argue that we are simply making a transfer from 
General Reserves. If there is a desire to leave “funds with the ratepayers and 
requesting contributions when CalPERS issues requests” the appropriate 
mechanism would be through the rate model and Prop 218 process. Other than non-
operating revenues (i.e. property tax and interest earnings) the bulk of our 
funding, and that which is controllable, comes from user fees acquired as part of 
the rate model process. 

We make a request for funds only one time a year – during the rate setting process.  
At that time the Board makes the decision whether to adhere strictly to the rate 
model, whether to allocate funding for reserves in the formula, or whether to leave 
funds with the ratepayers by decreasing rates.   Once the Board makes its decision on 
rate setting, then the District is free to assign its funds to the expenditure category it 
determines is an appropriate use of funds. 

If the Board determines that it no longer wishes to fund the Section 115, staff 
then believes it is appropriate to take the existing balance and spend down on our 
current CalPERS liability so that the account may be closed. 

FUNDING 

Unknown at this time.  

235



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

236



 
 
 

   
 

  
     

  
 

  
 

 

    
 

 
 

   
 

    
 

 
  

  
  

 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

  

Staff Report 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Domine Barringer, Board Clerk 

DATE: February 27, 2025 

SUBJECT: Term Limit Policy 

RECOMMENDATION 
At the January 2025 meeting the Board asked that this matter be carried forward to 
February. Staff is asking for direction on policy changes or a reaffirmation of the 
existing policy. 

DISCUSSION 
At the regular December board meeting the President and Pro Tem were appointed for a 
new one year term (Rec 2024-79).  At that meeting Director Cole requested that term limits 
should be looked at by the Board. Staff has researched the matter and find that term limits 
were set in Resolution 1993-12 passed March 18, 1993.   

The historical list of office holders shows that the District generally followed this rule until 
2009 when Charlotte Townsend started her third year term (total of six terms) and Ken 
White in 2015 (total of twelve terms). 

Under item 1993-12 #3. 

District Administrative Code 

In order to promote harmony, equal leadership opportunities and the 
enhancement of benefits to the Board and the District that may be derived 
from the individual contributions of those who serve as Board President, it 
shall be the normal policy of the Board of Directors to limit the number of 
consecutive terms a Board member may serve to two (2) annual terms. 

FINANCIAL- None 

237

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/carmelwastewaterca/latest/carmelwastewater_ca/0-0-0-482


 
    

   

     

     

     

     

     

    

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS – TERMS OF OFFICE 

Year Name President Serving Name Pro Tem Serving 

1993-94 Joyce Stevens Arthur Haseltine 

1994-95 Arthur Haseltine John Floyd 

1995-96 Arthur Haseltine Paul Beemer 

1996-97 Paul Beemer Brian Congleton 

1997-98 Paul Beemer Brian Congleton 

1998-99 Brian Congleton Charlotte Townsend 

1999-00 Brian Congleton Charlotte Townsend 

2000-01 Charlotte Townsend Joyce Stevens 

2001-02 Charlotte Townsend Joyce Stevens 

2002-03 Joyce Stevens Robert Kohn 

2003-04 Joyce Stevens Robert Kohn 

2004-05 Robert Kohn Ken White 

2005-06 Ken White William Englander 

238



   

 
 

  
 

   

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

  
 

   

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

  
 

   

 
 

  
 

   

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

    

 
 

  

 
 

  

   

Year Name President Serving Name Pro Tem Serving 

2006-07 Ken White William Englander 

2007-08 Charlotte Townsend Robert Siegfried 

2008-09 Charlotte Townsend Robert Siegfried 

2009-10 Charlotte Townsend Greg D'Ambrosio 

2010-11 Charlotte Townsend Greg D'Ambrosio 

2011-12 Charlotte Townsend Greg D'Ambrosio 

2012-13 Charlotte Townsend Robert Siegfried 

2013-14 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2014-15 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2015-16 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2016-17 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2017-18 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2018-19 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2019-20 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2020-21 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2021-22 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2022-23 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

239



   

    

   

   

 

Year Name President Serving Name Pro Tem Serving 

2023-24 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2024-25 Ken White Robert Siegfried 

2025-26 To Be Determined (TBD) TBD 

240

Domine Barringer
Highlight

Domine Barringer
Highlight

Domine Barringer
Highlight



Chris Foley's Oral Report�
CASA Conference�

241



1 

2/18/2025 

CAWD Principal 
Engineer

Projects Overview 

Jeff Bandy 

Carmel Area Wastewater 
District Board of Directors 

Meeting 

February 27, 2025 

Presentation Outline 

 

 

• CAWD-PBCSD Reclamation Project 
• Reclamation 15-Year Capital Improvements Program Master Planning Phase II 

• Collections Projects 
• Sewer Pipe Replacement 
• Vactor Receiving Station Project 
• Highlands Force Main Improvements 
• Ribera Rd. Retaining Wall Replacement 

• WWTP Projects 
• Site Improvements Projects 

• Other Initiatives 

• Capital Improvements Perspective 

2 

242 1 



3 

2/18/2025 

Carmel Area Wastewater District-Pebble Beach Community Services
District 15-Year Reclamation Capital Improvement Projects Master Plan 

Purpose: Evaluate alternatives and develop capital improvement roadmap to 
rehabilitate the tertiary system (sand filters) and membrane filtration-reverse 
osmosis reclamation system. 
Phase I: 
• Condition assessments 
• Probability of failure & consequence of failure 
• Replacement cost estimate ($27M) 
Phase II: 
• Alternatives analyses 
• Capital and lifecycle cost estimates 
• Strategic capital improvements plan roadmap 

Reclamation Assets Replacement Costs Summary 

 

 

Grouped by Business Risk Exposure Grouped by Process Area 

High Risk 
$20,000,000 

Medium Risk 
$5,400,000 

Low Risk 
$1,500,000 

4 

243 2 



5 

2/18/2025 

Phase II 15-Year CIP Master Plan Alternatives Analyses 

Filtration 
Alternatives 

Sand Filter & 
Microfiltration (MF) 

Rehabilitation 

MF Replacement/ 
Expansion 

Membrane 
Bioreactor 

RO 
Alternatives 

Flow Reversal 
Reverse Osmosis 

(FRRO) 

Additional Booster 
Pump 

Concentrate 
Recovery RO 

System 

Miscellaneous 

Disinfection 
Improvements 

Additional 
Interstage Tank 

Corrosion Control 
Alternatives 

Comparison Criteria: 
• Water production 

• Water quality 

• Safety 

• Reliability 

• Maintenance 

• Useful life 

• Construction schedule 

• Capital and lifecycle 
costs 

• Maintaining Operations 
during Construction 

Collections Projects – Sewer Pipe Replacement 

 

 

 

 

• Santa Rita & Guadalupe St. Sewer Main Replacement Project: 
• Project Scope: Replace 8,500 LF of existing 6” clay pipe with 8” plastic gravity sewer by pipe 

bursting and open trench methods. Manhole and flushing inlet rehabilitation and construction. 
• Construction estimate: $4.3M 
• Bid Open: March 20, 2025 
• Project Award: April 24, 2025 
• Project Completion: January 2026 

• Scenic Rd. Sewer Main Replacement Project: 
• Project Scope: Replace 11,000 LF of existing 6” clay pipe with 8” plastic gravity sewer by pipe 

and open trench methods. Manhole and flushing inlet rehabilitation and construction. 
• Construction estimate: Approx. $4.7M 
• Bid Open: May 15, 2025 
• Project Award: May 28, 2025 
• Project Completion: April 2026 

6 

244 3 



 

 

7 

2/18/2025 

Collections Projects – Vactor Receiving Station 

Project Location 

Vactor Truck Unloading 

Collections Projects – Vactor Receiving Station 

New Storm Drain Installation 

New Storm Drain Encasement 

245

8 

4 



9 

2/18/2025 

Collections Projects – Vactor Receiving Station 

Rebar Installation 

1 Week Before Final Pour 
(2/12/25) 

Collections Projects – Highlands Force Main Improvements 

Failed PVC Flushing Inlet (FI) 
Flush inlet, air relief 

valve, and vault 
replacement spot repair 

program (Q4 2025) 

PVC FI Failure Mode 

10 

246 5 



2/18/2025 

Collections Projects – Ribera Rd. Retaining Wall Replacement 

BEFOREAFTER 
Letter from Homeowner 

(Dec ’24 BOD packet) 

11 

WWTP Projects – Site Improvements Projects 

 

 

  

Phase Proj. # Project Title 

I 
18-28 Perimeter Eucalyptus Tree Removal 

19-18 Perimeter Fencing 

- Plant Paving and Striping, Vault Lid Repairs 

- Plant Landscaping 

II - Equipment Enclosures 

- Office Trailers Replacement 

III 22-03 
Main Potable Water and Gas Main 
Replacement 

• Combination of projects in the 
Treatment Plant CIP Budget over 
the next three years. 

• Phased construction based on 
CEQA and permitting complexity. 

• Improvements to safety, security,
and visual appeal of the treatment 
plant 

12 

247 6 



13 

2/18/2025 

Other Initiatives 

• New software systems: data hub (eRIS) and permit management (Klir) 
• Annual ocean outfall and lagoon crossing inspection 

• Reclamation permit update discussions with Central Coast Regional 
Water Quality Control Board 

• 2025 Sanitary Sewer Master Plan update 

• Reclamation Process Support contract management 
• Working with public on new connections 

• Carmel United School District summer high school intern program 

Capital Improvements Perspective 

 

Actual CIP Spent 

Budgeted Total CIP 

15 Year CIP Outlay Total CIP 
Collections $66M 
Treatment $22M 

Reclamation 
(not in CAWD Budget) $25M 

Total $113M 

Budgeted: $7.5M/Year 

CIP Planned for 2025: >$8M Actual: $3.5M/Year 

14 

248 7 



 

  

  

  

    
    

 

 

 

     
   

   
  

   

 

 

 
   

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

Date: February 27, 2025 

Subject: Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD)/Pebble Beach Community Special 
District (PBCSD) - Wastewater Reclamation Management Committee (RMC) 
on February 11, 2025 

DISCUSSION 

Agenda Items: 

1. Minutes from November 12, 2024 were approved unanimously. 
2. Financial Statements ending December 31, 2024 were received and no action was 

required. 
3. Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Project report was presented by Superintendent 

Waggoner.  The reservoir reached full capacity February 4th. A review of significant 
maintenance being performed during shutdown was presented. Progress continues on 
efforts to reach 90% recovery on all trains.  Reverse Osmosis Train B will reach that goal 
in early December, and Train A will reach 90% once the new irrigation season starts. 
Train C has been operating at 90% since July. 

4. Distribution System O&M report was presented by Chris Simmons, PBCSD Associate 
Engineer.  This year the reservoir achieved 10% capacity in mid-January, the earliest 
since being operated as part of the Reclamation Project. Capital Improvement Projects 
include replacement of the Forest Lake Reservoir horizontal strainers and 
improvements on the Viscaino Pump Station. 

5. The committee was informed that Rob Wellington’s retirement will require the Project 
to engage new counsel.  Although legal services have been administered by CAWD in 
the past, it is the RMC’s prerogative to appoint new legal counsel.  There was a request 
made that the RMC provide input and direction for appointing a new counsel. 

6. The 2024 Committee Meeting Schedule was adjusted to reflect the RMC meeting on 
November 18th rather than the 11th as originally listed. 

The next regular meeting is on Tuesday, May 13, 2025 at 9:30 a.m. 

249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



Adjournment 

257


	01.A  Board Packet Cover
	3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923

	01.B Divider Page Public Comment
	02. Divider Page Adenda Changes
	03. Intro Of New EE -Sim & Erik
	04.A 01-30-25 Regular Meeting Minutes
	CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL
	APPEARANCES, ORDERS OF BUSINESS & ANNOUNCEMENTS
	CONSENT CALENDAR: APPROVAL OF MINUTES, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MONTHLY REPORTS-ALL REPORTS RELATE
	TO CURRENT YEAR
	RESOLUTIONS

	04.B 02-14-25 Budget Minutes
	Via teleconference and in-person

	04.C 02-19-25 Pension & Investment- Long Term Investments Minutes
	Via teleconference and in-person
	2. Agenda Changes: Any requests to move an item on the agenda will be considered at this time.

	04.D 02-19-25 Bridge Minutes
	CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT
	1. Appearances/Public Comments: Anyone wishing to address the Committee on a matter not appearing on the agenda may do so now. Public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per person per topic. No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the...
	2. Agenda Changes: Any requests to move an item on the agenda will be considered at this time.
	3. Appointment Of A New Member To the Bridge To Everywhere Committee Will Be Finalized in the Carmel Area Wastewater District February 26, 2025 Board Meeting. The New Member Is ___________.
	4. Organization of the Committee
	General Discussion Items:


	05.A.1 CLA -Place Card Holder Letter
	05.C. Consolidated CLA December-Sept 2024
	06. Cash Disbursements & Receipts- Jan 2025
	0125
	graph 1
	graph 2

	07. Jan 25 CAWD Disbursements
	08. Jan 25 Reclamation Disbursements
	09. Jan 25 Financial Stmts
	10.A. January 2025 Board Report
	STAFF REPORT
	FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent
	RECOMMENDATION

	Permits Issued
	Maintenance
	Line Cleaning Table

	10.B. January 2025 Cleaning Map
	10.C. January 2025 Service Call Map
	11. Safety Staff Report 02-Feb'25.v1
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	12. Treatment Operations Report-Jan 2025
	13. Monthly Lab Report
	14. Implementation Plan Schedule 2-13-25
	15. Project Summaries 02-27-25
	            ADP Workforce Now

	16. Plant Ops Staff January 2025 ver 1
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	Training:
	 Staff participated in scheduled tailgate safety meetings in the digester building conference room.
	 January 23, Operations Superintendent attended a Zoom webinar on “Rapid Recovery for Utilities Affected by Wildfires” presented by CAL Warn of Northern California.
	 January 28, Operations Superintendent and Senior Operators attended in person training on “Aeration Benefits in Secondary Treatment” by Monterey Bay Section of the California Water Environment Association at Monterey One Water.
	Meetings Attended
	Annual Reports for 2024
	 Submitted the following Annual reports:
	o Annual Report for National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012, which included annual outfall inspection and Bio-solids disposal.
	o Annual Report for Reclamation Permit 93-72.
	o Environmental Protection Agency Sewage Sludge (Biosolids) Annual Report Permit CAL047996
	o CalRecycle Annual (4th Quarter) Biosolids Report Permit RD10733
	Discharge Permit Violations
	• There were no violations of Reclamation Permit 93-72 for the month of December 2024.
	  There were no violations of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012 within the month of December 2025.
	FUNDING-N/A-Informational item only

	17. Maintenance Staff Report 2- February 2025
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	18. Source Control Update
	18.B  Resolution Place Card Holder -
	19.A GM COLA
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	19.B CASA Survey GM less than 50
	19.C CASA Survey GM All
	19.D RES NO 2025-08 Designating Classification Titales for Non-Represented Employees
	Table 1

	20.A UAL staff report
	20.B Resolution 2025-09 Approving CalPers UAL
	21.A SAM UAL staff report
	21.B Resolution 2025-10 Approving SAM UAL
	22.A Divider Page Report General Manager
	22.B Carmel Meadows August 2024 Spill Response
	23. Keig connection
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	Subsequent to the January 30, 2025 Mr. Wilson was contacted and asked if he would participate in a meeting at CAWD with Director’s White and Siegfried to discuss this item.  Mr. Wilson declined but reaffirmed his interest in a special board meeting.
	This item is to request the Board discuss the procedural matter of scheduling a special meeting on this issue only.  Mr. Wilson has not yet provided a date that is amenable to him and the Keig’s.
	FUNDING
	None at this time.

	23.A Divider Page Other Items Before The Board
	24.A CAWD Collections a Deep Dive into Data-PPt
	CAWD Collections a Deep Dive into Data
	�CMMS 2.0 ��November 2023 CAWD implemented a new (Computerized Maintenance Management System) ����
	Deep Dive into Data
	Analytics and the steps in the process
	Results 
	Questions

	24.B V&A Data Science DATA ANALYTICS
	Table of Contents
	Tables
	Figures
	Downloadable Embedded Spreadsheets

	Abbreviations and Acronyms
	Glossary
	Executive Summary
	Scope and Purpose
	DATA Assessment Summary (tasks 1-8)
	ANALYTICS Goals (task 9)
	IMPLEMENTATION Goals (tasks 10-11)
	Summary, Conclusion and Recommendations
	1 DATA Assessment
	2 ANALYTICS
	3 IMPLEMENTATION


	1 DATA Assessment—tasks 1-8
	1.1 Gravity Main GIS Data
	1.1.1 Gravity mains
	1.1.1.1 Gravity main segment diameters analysis
	1.1.1.2 Gravity main segment material analysis
	1.1.1.3 Gravity main segment installation date
	1.1.1.4 Gravity main segment lengths
	1.1.1.5 Gravity main segment slope
	1.1.1.6 Other gravity main segment issues and observations
	1.1.1.6.1 Basins and Flow Basins

	1.1.1.7 Gravity main segment summary

	1.1.2 Laterals
	1.1.3 Manholes

	1.2 Gravity Main Cleaning Maintenance and Condition Data Summary
	1.2.1 Cleaning summary
	1.2.1.1 Gravity main segments cleaned by year, by month
	1.2.1.2 Gravity main segments missing anticipated cleaning history
	1.2.1.2.1 Gravity main segments with no cleaning history

	1.2.1.3      Gravity mains cleaned but missing from GIS
	1.2.1.4  Segment cleaning frequency in cleaning records

	1.2.2 Condition assessment data gathered during cleaning
	1.2.2.1 Trends, consistency of cleaning condition data gathered over time
	1.2.2.1.1 Consistency of gathered data over time

	1.2.2.2 Analysis of clean & dirty gravity main segments %’s
	1.2.2.3 Geographic concentrations of cleaning condition ratings
	1.2.2.4 Gravity main cleaning condition data summary


	1.3 Other Gravity Main Condition Assessment Data
	1.3.1 Condition assessment: CCTV data
	1.3.1.1 Gravity main segments with no CCTV data
	1.3.1.2  CCTV inspection records with gravity main segment asset ID not found in GIS

	1.3.2 Condition assessment: SmartCover data
	1.3.3 Condition assessment: SL-RAT data
	1.3.4 Failure data: SSOs

	1.4 Other Gravity Main Maintenance Data
	1.4.1 Root foaming maintenance

	1.5 Gravity Main Data Assessment Summary

	2 ANALYTICS—task 9
	2.1 LOF predictions using machine learning
	2.2 LOF prediction spreadsheet with segment cleaning histories

	3 IMPLEMENTATION—tasks 10-11
	3.1 Segment cleaning priority analysis
	3.1.1 Top priority, clean or CCTV asap
	3.1.1.1 Neglected gravity main segments, no cleaning or CCTV record in data
	3.1.1.2  Segments not cleaned in past two years with high LOF predictions

	3.1.2 High Frequency cleaning analysis and recommendations

	3.2 Regular Frequency cleaning analysis and recommendations—opportunities to clean less
	3.3 Smartcover location analysis and recommendations
	3.4 Root foaming analysis and recommendations
	3.5 Total cleaning resource needed
	3.6 Task 11, best practice recommendations and roadmap
	3.7 Future data science opportunities
	3.7.1 Consequence consideration for gravity main cleaning prioritization
	3.7.2 Risk-based gravity main cleaning and maintenance


	Appendix A—recommended segments for high frequency cleaning
	Appendix B-Root Foaming Candidates

	25. Annual Report_Tertiary 2024 Scanned
	26. Annual Report_SecondaryNPDES2024 Final
	27. Section 115
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	FUNDING
	Unknown at this time.

	28. A Staff Report - Term of Office
	28.B List of Past Officers
	29. Divider Page Chris Foley Oral Rpt -Casa
	30. Principal Engineer Project Summary slides (updated)
	31. RMC meeting 02-11-25
	Subject: Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD)/Pebble Beach Community Special District (PBCSD) - Wastewater Reclamation Management Committee (RMC) on February 11, 2025

	32. CSDA Board Participation Outreach
	33. Divider Page Annncmnts Sbjct Intrst -Board
	34. Divider Page Adjournment
	10.A. January 2025 Board Report.pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent
	RECOMMENDATION

	Permits Issued
	Maintenance
	Line Cleaning Table




